SAI GON - QUANG NGAI BEER THE SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
JOINT STOCK COMPANY Independence - Liberty - Happiness

No: /% /2025/CV-BSGQN Quang Ngai, March 25, 2025

AD HOC INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

To: - Ha Noi Stock Exchange
- State Securities Commission

1. Name of organization: SAI GON - QUANG NGAI BEER J OINT STOCK COMPANY
- Security code/Member code: BSQ
- Address: Quang Phu Industrial Zone, Quang Ngai City, Quang Ngai Province.
- Tel: 0255.6250905

2. Disclosed information: Supplement the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
documents.

3. This information was announced on the company's website on March 25, 2025 at
www.sabecoquangngai.com.vn.

We hereby commit that the information published above is true and is responsible for the published

information.
Attachments:
2025 AGM documents
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Signature Not Verified

-
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SABECO

SAI GON QUANG NGAI BEER JOINT STOCK COMPANY
Address: Quang Phu 1Z, Quang Ngai City, Quang Ngai Province
Tel: +84.255.6250905; 6250906 Fax: +84.255.6250910

Email: beer@sabecoquangngai.com.vn;Website: www.sabecoquangngai.com.vn
Business Licence no.: 4300338460 issued by Quang Ngai Province P&I Dept. on 04/12/2024

AGENDA

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 2025
SAI GON - QUANG NGAI BEER JOINT STOCK COMPANY

Time

Venue

09h00, April 04, 2025.

Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company, Quang Phu Industrial
Zone, Quang Ngai City, Quang Ngai Province.

Time

Agenda

08:30 - 09:00

- Welcoming guests

- Verifying guests’ eligibility to attend the AGM, distributing AGM documents

09:00 - 09:10

- Greetings and introduction

- Reporting Shareholders’ eligibility verification

09:10 - 09:25

- Introducing Chairpersons and Secretary of the AGM

- Approving Members for the Vote Counting Committee

- Approving the AGM Agenda

- Approving the AGM working regulations

09:25 - 10:00

Presentation and report

- Audited financial statements 2024

- Report of the Board of Directors on business performance for 2024 & business
plan for 2025

- Report of the Supervisory Board's activities in 2024 & plan for 2025

- Selection of the independent auditor for the fiscal year 2025

- 2024 profit distribution & 2025 profit distribution plan

- Settlement of salary, remuneration, bonus in 2024 & the plan of salary,
remuneration, bonus in 2025 for the non full-time members of the Board of
Directors and the Supervisory Board

- Amendment to the Internal Regulations on Corporate Governance

- Authorization to sign contracts with related parties under the authority of the
General Meeting of Shareholders

10:00 - 10:15

Q&A

10:15 - 10:25

Voting

10:25-10:40

Tea break and vote counting

10:40 - 10:50

Announcing voting results

10:50 - 11:00

Approving Meeting Minutes and Resolution

11:00

Closing
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SAIGON QUANG NGAI BEER JOINT STOCK COMPANY
Address: Quang Phu 1Z, Quang Ngai City, Quang Ngai Province
Tel: +84.255.6250905; 6250906 Fax: +84.255.6250910

' Email: beer@sabecoquangngai.com.vn;Website: www.sabecoquangngai.com.vn
SABECO Business Licence no.: 4300338460 issued by Quang Ngai Province P&I Dept. on 04/12/2024

Quang Ngai City, April 04, 2025

DRAFT

WORKING REGULATIONS OF
THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 2025
SAI GON - QUANG NGAI BEER JOINT STOCK COMPANY

Pursuant to Law on Enterprises no. 59/2020/QH14 dated June 17", 2020;
Pursuant to the Charter of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company;

In order to ensure the success of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer JSC’s Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders in 2025, the Board of Directors (BOD) has set up the following regulations,
principles of working, conducting and voting in the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders:

I. OBJECTIVES OF PROMULGATING

- This Regulations is established for specifically ensuring the order and principles of conducting
and voting at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer JSC
in 2024 (hereinafter referred to as AGM).

- All shareholders, the representatives (the authorized persons) and invited guests shall abide by
the provisions of this Regulations, the Charter of the Company and current regulations of the
law.

II. CONTENT OF THE REGULATION
1. Condition for convening AGM

a. AGM shall be held when it is attended by a number of shareholders/authorized persons
represent more than 50% of votes.

b. If the first meeting fails to meet the conditions prescribed in Section Il, Clause 1, Point a,
the AGM must be convened for the second time within thirty (30) days from the
proposed date of the first meeting date. The AGM shall be held when it is attended by a
number of shareholders/authorized persons represent at least 33% of votes.

c. If the second meeting is not convened, it shall not be eligible to proceed according to the
provisions at Section |1, Clause 1, Point b, the AGM shall be convened for the third time
within twenty (20) days from the proposed date of the second time, and in this case, the
AGM shall be held regardless of the number of shareholders or authorized persons that
attend and are considered to be valid and have the power to determine all issues to be
approved at the AGM first scheduled.

2. Condition of shareholders attending the AGM

The shareholders of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer JSC as listed on 03/3/2025 are entitled to
attend the AGM; they can directly attend or authorize their representatives to attend. If
more than one authorized representative is appointed, the number of shares and the
number of votes of each representative must be specified.

1 | Working regulations - AGM 2025
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3. Guests at AGM

They are the managers of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer JSC, advisors, guests, members of
the AGM’s Convening Committee that are not shareholders of the Company but invited to
attend AGM.

Guests do not participate in providing any opinion or speak at the AGM (unless invited by
the Chairperson of AGM or registered in advance with the AGM’s Convening Committee).

4. Shareholders and guests attending AGM must comply with the following provisions:

Be punctual, polite, comply with the security check (if any), bring personal documents, etc.
as requested by the AGM’s Convening Committee.

Register and receive documents for AGM at the reception.

Shareholders coming late shall register immediately and then have the right to participate
and vote immediately at the meeting. The Chairperson does not have the responsibility for
suspending the AGM for the late arrival of shareholders. The voting results of agenda item
before attendance of that shareholder will not be affected.

Keep the phone in vibrate mode or turn off the phone, when necessary, go out for the
conversation.

No smoking in the meeting room.
Comply with the regulations of the AGM’s Convening Committee, Chairperson.

In case shareholders do not comply with the inspection regulations or the above rules and
regulations, the Chairperson, after careful consideration, may expel the above shareholders
from the place of AGM to ensure that the meeting is in order.

5. Chairperson of AGM

The Chairperson of AGM is the Chairman of the BOD. In case the Chairman is absent or
temporarily incapable of working, the remaining members shall elect one of the Members
of BOD to act as the Chairperson of AGM; In case no person can be the Chairperson, the
Head of Supervisory Board shall control AGM to elect the chairperson of AGM among the
participants and the person with the highest number of votes shall act as Chairperson of
AGM.

Rights and obligations of the Chairperson:

v" The Chairperson shall decide the order, procedures and events arising outside the
AGM’s agenda in accordance with the Laws and Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer JSC’s
Charter.

v' Instruct shareholders and the AGM to discuss the contents of the agenda and
conclude the necessary issues for the AGM to vote.

v" Response or appoint relevant person to response to issues/questions raised by the
shareholders and resolve issues arising during AGM.

v Other rights and obligations stipulated in Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer JSC’s Charter.

6. Secretary of AGM
= AGM’s Secretary shall be appointed by the Chairperson.

Rights and Obligations of AGM’s Secretary:

v’ Carry out the tasks as assigned.

v Receive shareholders’ query forms and/ or written opinion.

v Record and reflect true and accurate contents of AGM in the minutes of AGM and
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the resolutions of AGM.

7. Shareholders’ eligibility Examination Committee

= Shareholders’ Eligibility Examination Committee elected by AGM’s Convening
Committee.

= Rights and Obligations of Shareholders’ eligibility Examination Committee

v’ Shareholders’ Eligibility Examination Committee is responsible for receiving and
checking the documents on eligibility of shareholders attending AGM.

v Report on the results of examining eligibility of shareholders before the AGM.

v In case the attendees fail to prove their eligibility for shareholders attending AGM,
the Shareholders’ eligibility Examination Committee shall have the right to refuse to
provide Voting Ballots and AGM’s documents.

8. Vote Counting Committee

= The Vote Counting Committee is nominated by the Chairperson and approved by the
AGM. Members of the Vote Counting Committee may be employees of Sai Gon - Quang
Ngai Beer JSC, shareholders and/ or consultant of organizing the AGM. Members of the
Vote Counting Committee are not concurrently Chairperson or Secretary of AGM.

= The Vote Counting Committee has the following tasks:

v Check the content, form and number of voting ballots and voting cards.
Disseminate principles, rules, and guidelines on voting method.
Inspect and supervise the voting of shareholders and authorized representatives.
Organize the counting of votes and make the minutes of counting votes.

Announce the results of the vote counting in an honest and accurate manner and take
responsibility for the vote counting results before the AGM.

AN N NN

9. Participation at AGM

= Shareholders who wish to speak must have the consent of the Chairperson of AGM.
Shareholders shall make short speeches and focus on the key contents to be discussed, in
accordance with the agenda contents approved by the AGM or send written opinions to the
secretary of AGM to report to the Chairperson.

= The Chairperson of AGM will arrange for the shareholders to speak in the order of
registration, at the same time answer questions at AGM or record for later response in
writing.
10. Rules of Voting at AGM
a. General provisions on voting
v’ Each share owned or represented has one vote counted.

v" Each shareholder attended AGM will be directly provided by the AGM’s Convening
Committee the following: 01 Voting Card and 01 Voting Ballot with the code of
ownership and/ or representative stamped with the Company's seal for voting of the
contents under the AGM’s Agenda.

b. Method of voting, order of voting

Any issues raised at AGM under the authority of the AGM shall be voted in the following
order:

v Approve the content as submitted.
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v
v

Disapprove the content as submitted.
Abstain the content as submitted.

At AGM, the shareholder shall vote by one of the following forms:

X/
£ %4

v

v

v

X/
£ %4

"Voting Card': Each shareholder/ authorized person(s) is given one (01) Voting
Card. When voting at AGM, the shareholders/authorized persons raise the Voting
Card towards the Chairperson.

In cases where a shareholder/authorized person(s) does not raise his/her vote in all
three votes, it is considered that he/ she voted for agreement with the issue.

In cases where a shareholder/authorized person(s) raises his/her vote in all three votes
or two of three votes, it is considered that he/ she voted for disagreement with the issue.

In the form of voting by raising Voting Card, the members of Vote Counting
Committee shall mark the voting code and the corresponding number of votes of each
shareholder on approval, disapproval or abstain.

"Voting Ballot™: Each shareholder/authorized person(s) is given one (01) Voting
Ballot with three (03) kinds of voting: “approve”, “disapprove”, and “abstain” on each
agenda. Shareholders/authorized persons may mark "X" or “v for the selected vote
content. This method is used to approve the reports/ proposals at the AGM.

c. The validity of Voting Ballot

X/
£ %4

v

v

v

v

v
v

Valid Voting Ballot:

Follow the template issued by AGM’s Convening Committee and having Company
stamp.

Not be erased nor changed in printed content. In case of there was any content that
needs to be added, the order of such contents must follow the last content. The
additional contents shall not be acceptable except for the contents required by AGM’s
Convening Committee.

Must be signed and must have full name of shareholder/ authorized person under the
signature.

For separate content (report/ proposal): Choose one (1) of three (03) voting status on
Voting Ballot.

Invalid Voting Ballot:
The Ballot which does not meet one of above conditions is invalid.

For votes with many contents that need to be approved, in addition to the invalid voting
contents, the remaining valid voting contents will still be counted in the voting results.

d. Record the voting results

v

The Vote Counting Committee is responsible for recording, checking the number of
votes on approval, disapproval and abstain of each content adopted at AGM. At the
same time, it is responsible for statistics and reporting results of vote counting at AGM.

e. Minimum rate to be achieved when voting

v

For decisions on the contents related to the class of shares, the total number of shares of
each type; changing business lines; changing the organizational structure of Sai Gon -
Quang Ngai Beer JSC; Investment projects or sales of assets valued at 35% or more of
the total value of assets recorded in Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer JSC’s latest financial
statements; reorganizing, dissolving Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer JSC; extension of Sai
Gon - Quang Ngai Beer JSC’s activities, it shall be approved when having approval of
at least 65% of the total number of votes of all attending shareholders/ authorized
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persons of shareholders to attend the AGM.

v For other issues, it should be adopted when approved by a number of shareholders
representing more than 50% of the total number of votes of all attending shareholders.

Note: For contracts and transactions specified in Clause 3, Article 167 of the Law on
Enterprises, shareholders/authorized persons of shareholders with interests related to the
parties in the contract or transaction have no voting rights.

11. Minutes and resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders
= Contents of the AGM 2025 must be recorded by the Secretariat in the minutes of the AGM.
= Minutes and resolutions of the AGM 2025 must be approved before the closing of the

AGM and be kept at Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer JSC's office.

1. IMPLEMENTATION

All shareholders, representatives and guests attending the AGM are responsible for
compliance with the provisions of this Regulation, current regulations, rules and provisions
of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer JSC and relevant legal provisions, obey the decisions of the
Chairman, the AGM’s Convening Committee. If there is any violation, the Chairman shall
be entitled to handle and use measurement to restrict a person to speak, expel him/her from
the AGM and/ or take necessary legal action in accordance with the law.

The contents not specified in this Regulation shall be applied in accordance with Sai Gon -
Quang Ngai Beer JSC's Charter, Law on Enterprises 2020 and related legal documents.

This Regulation takes effect immediately after being approved by the AGM.

BOD CHAIRMAN
(Signed)

Koo Liang Kwee
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Address: Quang Phu 1Z, Quang Ngai City, Quang Ngai Province

SAI GON - QUANG NGAI BEER JOINT STOCK COMPANY
§ Tel: +84.255.6250905; 6250906 Fax: +84.255.6250910

S ABECO Email: beer@sabecoquangngai.com.vn;Website: www.sabecoquangngai.com.vn

Business Licence no.: 4300338460 issued by Quang Ngai Province P&I Dept. on 04/12/2024

Quang Ngai, April 04, 2025

SUMMARY DOCUMENT
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 2025
SAI GON - QUANG NGAI BEER JOINT STOCK COMPANY

Dear Shareholders of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company

The Board of Directors of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company would like to
propose the following summary of proposals for Shareholders’ approval as follows:

1.

10.

Audited Financial Statements 2024

Please refer to the attached report.

Report of the Board of Directors on business performance for 2024 & the plan for 2025
Please refer to the attached report.

Report of the Supervisory Board's activities in 2024 and plan for 2025
Please refer to the attached report.

Proposal to select the independent auditor for 2025 financial statements
Please refer to the attached proposal submitted by the Board of Directors.
Proposal on 2024 profit distribution

Please refer to the attached proposal submitted by the Board of Directors.
Proposal on 2025 profit distribution plan

Please refer to the attached proposal submitted by the Board of Directors

Proposal on settlement of remuneration, bonus in 2024 for the non full-time members
of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board

Please refer to the attached proposal submitted by the Board of Directors.

Proposal on remuneration, bonus plan in 2025 for the non full-time members of the
Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board

Please refer to the attached proposal submitted by the Board of Directors.
Proposal on amendment to the Internal Regulations of Corporate Governance
Please refer to the attached proposal submitted by the Board of Directors.

Proposal on signing contracts with related parties under the authority of the General
Meeting of Shareholders.

Please refer to the attached proposal submitted by the Board of Directors.

Respectfully yours./.

BOD CHAIRMAN
(Signed)

Koo Liang Kwee
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Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company

Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024




Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company

Corporate Information

Investment Registration
Certificate No.

Enterprise Registration
Certificate No.

Board of Directors

Board of Supervisors

Board of Management

Registered Office

Auditor

Beer Manufacturing Project
34121000019 20 September 2007
1714445463 24 November 2020

The Company’s investment registration certificate has been
amended the first time on 24 November 2020 by Investment
Registration Certificate No. 1714445463, The initial and amended
investment registration certificate were issued by the People’s
Committee of Quang Ngai province and Dung Quat Economic Zone
and Quang Ngai Industrial Zones Authority, respectively, and valid
for 40 years from the date of the initial investment registration
certificate.

Commercial Centre, Services and Rental Project
3412100023 10 March 2008

The Company’'s investment regisiration certificate has been
amended several times, the most recent of which is by Investment
Registration Certificate No. 3412100023 dated 28 July 2023. The
initial and amended investment registration certificate were
issued by the People’s Committee of Quang Ngai province, and
valid for 46 years and 6 months from the date of the initial
investment registration certificate.

4300338460 6 October 2005

The Company’s enterprise registration certificate has been amended
several times and the most recent of which is by Enterprise
Registration Certificate No. 4300338460 dated 4 December 2024,
The enterprise registration certificate and its amendments were
issued by the Department of Planning and Investment of Quang Ngai
Province.

Mr. Koo Liang Kwee Chairman

Mrs. Bui Thi Nhu Executive Member

Mr. Dinh Van Thanh Non-executive Member
Mr. Tran Nguyen Trung Non-executive Member
Mr. Van Thao Nguyen Non-executive Member
Mrs. Huynh Thi Thuy Nhan Head of Board of Supervisors
Mr. Nguyen Van Hoa Member

Mrs. Do Thi Diem Kieu Member

Mrs. Bui Thi Nhu Director

Mr. Nguyen Van Hung Deputy Director

Mr. Vo Thanh Cuong Chief Accountant

Quang Phu Industrial Zone, Quang Phu Ward,
Quang Ngai City, Quang Ngai Province

KPMG Limited Vietnam
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Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Statement of the Board of Management

The Board of Management of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company (“the Company™)
presents this statement and the accompanying financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2024,

The Board of Management is responsible for the preparation true and fair presentation of the
financial statements in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, the Vietnamese
Accounting System for enterprises and the relevant statutory requirements applicable to financial
reporting. In the opinion of the Board of Management:

(a) the financial statements set out on pages 3 to 36 give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Company as at 31 December 2024, and of its results of operations and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, the
Vietnamese Accounting System for enterprises and the relevant statutory requirements
applicable to financial reporting; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are no reasons to believe that the Company will not be able
to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Management has, on the date of this statement, authorised the accompanying
financial statements for issue.

behall of the Board of Management < -

o)

Quang Ngai Province, 26 February 2025
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KPMG!

KPMG Limited Branch

10th Floor, Sun Wah Tower

115 Nguyen Hue Street, Ben Nghe Ward
District 1, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam
+84 (28) 3821 9266 | kpmg.com.vn

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders
Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint
Stock Company (“the Company”), which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2024,
the statements of income and cash flows for the year then ended and the explanatory notes
thereto which were authorised for issue by the Company’s Board of Management on 26 February
2025, as set out on pages 5 to 36.

Management’s Responsibility

The Company’s Board of Management is responsible for the preparation true and fair presentation
of these financial statements in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, the
Vietnamese Accounting System for enterprises and the relevant statutory requirements applicable
to financial reporting, and for such internal control as the Board of Management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility

Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Vietnamese Standards on Auditing. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and true and fair presentation of
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Company’s Board of
Management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

KPMG Limited Branch, a branch of KPMG Limited, a Vielnamese one member limited liabdlity company
and & member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with
KPMG International Limited, a privats English company limitad by guarantes. All rights resarved.
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KPMG

Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the
financial position of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company as at 31 December 2024
and of its results of operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Vietnamese Accounting Standards, the Viethamese Accounting System for enterprises and the
relevant statutory requirements applicable to financial reporting.

KPMG Limited’s Branch in Ho Chi Minh City
Vietnam

+.24-04-00031-25-1

Nelson Rodriguez Casihan
Practicing Auditor Registration Practicing Auditor Registration
Certificate No. 4629-2023-007-1 Certificate No. 2225-2023-007-1
Deputy General Director

Ho Chi Minh City, 26 February 2025
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Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2024

ASSETS

Current assets
(100 =110 + 130 + 140 + 150)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash
Cash equivalents

Accounts receivable — short-term
Accounts receivable from customers
Prepayments to suppliers
Other short-term receivables

Inventories
Inventories
Allowance for inventories

Other current assets
Short-term prepaid expenses

Taxes receivables from State Treasury

Long-term assets
(200 = 220 + 240 + 260)

Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Intangible fixed assets
Cost

Accumulated amortisation

Long-term work in progress
Construction in progress

Other long-term assets
Long-term prepaid expenses
Deferred tax assets
Long-term tools, supplies and
spare parts

TOTAL ASSETS (270 = 100 + 200)

100

110
111
112

130
131
132
136

140
141
149

150
151
153

200

220
221
222
223
227
228
229

240
242

260
261
262

263

270

Form B 01 - DN

(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC

Code Note

7(a)

8

9

10

7(b)

31/12/2024
VND

448,998,204,247

37,710,615,164
37,710,615,164

225,567,016,808
225,024 ,381,858
436,922,558
105,712,392

182,687,390,940
183,036,156,466
(348,765,526)

3,033,181,335
2,470,001,473
563,179,862

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

1/1/2024
VND

521,901,754,936

266,189,958,489
29,489,958,489
236,700,000,000

91,415,856,085
89,706,534,871
188,561,873
1,520,759,341

163,343,622,554
163,730,592,301

(386,969,747)

952,317,808
952,317,808

8§81,934,974,598 1,004,442,083,428

741,488,102,823
741,410,330,435

77,772,388
519,545,034
(441.772,646)

14,435,516,699
14,435,516,699

126,011,355,076
118,928,709,124
2,666,760,635

4,415,885,317

865,928,341,176
865,928,341,176

2,011,909,088,660 2,009,248,249,155
(1,270,498,758,225) (1,143,319,907,979)

423,000,000
(423,000,000)

9,798,307,815
9,798,307,815

128,715,434,437
123,500,670,868
2,251,254,726

2,963,508,843

1,330,933,178,845 1,526,343,838,364

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 01 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
Code Note VND VND
LIABILITIES (300 = 310) 300 493,995,757,281  691,780,400,512
Current liabilities 310 493,995,757,281  691,780,400,512
Accounts payable to suppliers 311 11 49,265,381,883  191,716,441,508
Advances from customers 312 27.423.572 42 581,508
Taxes payable to State Treasury 313 12 216,649,644,530  219,202,970,091
Payables to employees 314 3,489,597 .698 8.039,141,731
Accrued expenses 315 13 8,907,652,469 0,705,885,981
Other short-term payables 319 14 19,265,140,607 19,713,920,270
Short-term borrowings 320 15 189,000,000,000 236,500,000,000
Bonus and welfare fund 322 16 7,390,916,522 6,859,459.423
EQUITY (400 = 410) 400 836,937,421,564  834,563,437,852
Owners’ equity 410 17 836,937,421,564  834,563,437,852
Share capital 411 18 450,000,000,000 450,000,000,000
- Ordinary shares with voting rights ~ 41la 450,000,000,000  450,000,000,000
Investment and development fund 418 20 36,600,250,272 36,600,250,272
Retained profits 421 350,337,171,292 347.,963,187,580
- Retained profits brought forward 421a 279.457,411,486  253,148,993,119
- Retained profit for the year 4216 70,879,759,806 94,814,194,461
TOTAL RESOURCES
(440 = 300 + 400) 440 1,330,933,178,845 1,526,343,838,364
26 February 2025
Prepared by:

/ﬂm

Chief Accountant

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company

Statement of income for the year ended 31 December 2024

Code Note
Revenue from sales of goods 01 22
Revenue deductions 02 22
Net revenue (10 =01 - 02) 10 22
Cost of sales 11 23
Gross profit (20 =10 - 11) 20
Financial income 21 24
Financial expenses 22 25
In which: Interest expense 23
Selling expenses 25 26
General and administration expenses 26 27
Net operating profit 30
{30 =20 + (21 - 22) - (25 + 26)}
Other income 31
Other expenses 32
Results of other activities (40 = 31 - 32) 40
Accounting profit before tax 50
(50 =30 + 40)
Income tax expense — current 51 29
Income tax benefit — deferred 52 29
Net profit after tax (60 = 50 - 51 - 52) 60
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share 70 30
6-February 2025

2024
VND

Form B 02 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2023
VYND

1,993,616,248,934 1,863,202,186,861

470,629,988 363,208,580
1,993,145,618,946 1,862,838,978,281
1,845,555,959,411 1,703,815,646,687

147,589,659,535  159,023,331,594
8,943,356,928 19,990,777.575
6,976,527,571 28,614,399,165
6,619,997,448 20,294,283,087
12,964,419,534 8,590,317,794
11,491,352,548 14,926,318,643
125,100,716,810  126,883,073,567
1,249,005,676 1,593,736,042

044,416,982 837,798,676

304,588,694 755,937,366

125,405,305,504 127,639,010,933
25,790,483,207 28,394,980,769

(415,505,909)  (1,470,164,297)
100,030,328,206  100,714,194.461

(Restated)
2,075 2,085
Prepared by:

Vo Thanh Cuong
Chief Accountant

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2024

(Indirect method)

Form B 03 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2024 2023
Cinde Note VND VND
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Accounting profit before tax 01 125,405,305,504 127.639,010,933
Adjustments for
Depreciation and amortisation 02 127.260,018,256  127,478,445,142
Allowances and provisions 03 1,927,359,366 67,253,620
Exchange (gains)/losses arising from |
revaluation of monetary items J f
denominated in foreign currencies 04 (95,583,822) 8,133,910,713
Profits from investing activities 05 (3,083,653,163) (19,033,017.,452)
Interest expense 06 6,619,997.448  20,294,283,087
Opeeatiug proiit beler chioge in 08 258,033,443,589  264,579,886,043
working capital
Change in receivables 09 (134,959,138,921) (67,607,180,425)
Change in inventories 10 (22,723,504,226)  25,509,827,680
Change in payables and other liabilities 11 (13,997,048,695) 81,859,312,953
Change in prepaid expenses 12 (2,266,462,437) (11,044,431,204)
84,087,289,310 293,297,415,047
Interest paid 14 (5,388,539,181) (19,213,778,125)
Corporate income tax paid 15 (35,658,678,174) (28,529,834,489)
Other receipts from operating activities 16 12,420,000 27,440,000
Other payments for operating activities 17 (6,664,738,995) (8,595,631,837)
Net cash flows from operating activities 20 36,387,752,960 236,985,610,596

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for additions to fixed assets 21 (129,477,561,788) (35,797,861,423)
Placements of term deposits at banks 23 (88,000,000,000) -
Collections of term deposits at banks 24 88,000,000,000  338,100,000,000
Receipts of interests 27 3,405,535,903 25,669,378,008
Net cash flows from investing activities 30 (126,072,025,885) 327.971,516,585

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements




Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2024
(Indirect method - continued)
Form B 03 - DN

(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2024 2023
Code Note VND VND
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from short-term borrowings 33 1,376,500,000,000 1,738,600,000,000
Payments to settle loan principals 34 (1,424.000,000,000) 1,977.610.565,869)
Payments of dividends 36 (91,303,628,000) (66,581,523,000)
Net cash flows from financing activities 40 (138,803,628,000) (305,592,088,869)
Net cash flows during the year
(50 = 20 + 30 + 40) 50 (228,487,900,925) 259,365,038,312
i 60 266,189,958,489  6,831,749,856
beginning of the year
Effect of exchange ra‘te fluctuations 61 8,557,600 (6,829,679)
on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the end ;
of the year (70 = 50 + 60 + 61) 70 5 37,710,615,164 266,189,958,489
26 February 2025
| Prepared by:

. anh Cuong
= Chief Accountant

LT\
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(a)

(b)

Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

Form B 09 - DN
{Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
financial statements.

Reporting entity

Ownership structure
Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company (“the Company™) is incorporated as a joint stock

company in Vietnam.

On 28 February 2017, the Company’s shares were officially traded on the unlisted public companies
market (UPCOM) with the code BSQ.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Company are to produce and trade beer, liquor and beverage products;
to produce and trade alcohol; and to provide warehousing services.

Normal operating cycle

The normal operating cycle of the Company is generally within 12 months.

Company structure

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had 205 employees (1/1/2024: 206 employees).

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting
Standards, the Vietnamese Accounting System for enterprises and the relevant statutory
requirements applicable to financial reporting.

Basis of measurement

The financial statements, except for the statement of cash flows, are prepared on the accrual basis
using the historical cost concept. The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method.
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(c)

(d)

(e)

(a)

Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 — DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Going concern assumption

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. At the end of the accounting
period, current liabilities exceeded current assets by VND44,998 million (1/1/2024: VND169,879
million). Furthermore, the Company had significant loans that will require refinancing in the next
twelve months (Note 16). The Company receives orders and sells its products mainly to Saigon Beer
- Alcohol - Beverage Corporation, its parent company. The validity of the going concern assumption
fundamentally depends on the Company continuing to receive enough orders from the parent
company, to generate positive net operating cash flows, and to maintain unused credit lines to enable
the Company to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due and to maintain the Company in
existence as a going concern for the foreseeable future.

At the time of this report, there were unused credit lines available amounting to VND32 1,000 million
and there is no reason for the Company’s management to believe that the Company will not continue
to receive enough orders from the parent company and not continue to generate positive net operating

cash flows.

Annual accounting period

The annual accounting period of the Company is from 1 January to 31 December.

Accounting and presentation currency

The Company’s accounting currency is Vietnam Dong (“VND”), which is also the currency used for
financial statements presentation purpose.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted by the Company in the preparation
of these financial statements.

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in currencies other than VND during the year have been translated into VND at rates
of exchange ruling at the transaction dates.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than VND are translated into VND
at the account transfer buying rate and account transfer selling rate, respectively, at the end of the
annual accounting period quoted by the commercial bank where the Company most frequently
conducts transactions.

All foreign exchange differences are recorded in the statement of income.



(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)
(i)

Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash balances and call deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather
than for investment or other purposes.

Accounts receivable

Trade and other receivables are stated at cost less allowance for doubtful debts.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted
average basis and includes all costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition. Cost in the case of finished goods and work in progress includes raw materials, direct
labour and attributable manufacturing overheads. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
of inventory items, less the estimated costs of completion and estimated costs to sell.

The Company applies the perpetual method of accounting for inventories.

Tangible fixed assets

Cost

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The initial cost of a tangible
fixed asset comprises its purchase price, including import duties, non-refundable purchase taxes and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use.
Expenditure incurred after tangible fixed assets have been put into operation, such as repair and
maintenance and overhauls cost, is charged to the statement of income in the year in which the costs
are incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in
an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of tangible fixed
assets beyond their originally assessed standard of performance, the expenditure is capitalised as an
additional cost of tangible fixed assets.

12
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(i)

Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Depreciation

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of tangible fixed
assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

= buildings and structures 6 — 25 years
= machinery and equipment 3 — 15 years
= motor vehicles 6 years

office equipment 3 years
= others 2 - 20 years

Intangible fixed assets

Software

Cost of acquiring new software, which is not an integral part of the related hardware, is capitalised
and treated as an intangible asset. Software cost is amortised on a straight-line basis over 3 years.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents the costs of tangible fixed assets which have not been fully
completed or installed. No depreciation is provided for construction in progress during the year of
construction and installation.

Long-term prepaid expenses

Prepaid land costs

Prepaid land costs comprise prepaid land lease rentals, including those for which the Company
obtained land use rights certificate but are not qualified as intangible fixed assets under prevailing
laws and regulations, and other costs incurred in conjunction with securing the use of leased land.
These costs are recognised in the statement of income on a straight-line basis over the term of the

lease of 41 years.

Tools and instruments

Tools and instruments include assets held for use by the Company in the normal course of business
whose costs of individual items are less than VND30 million and therefore not qualified for
recognition as fixed assets under prevailing regulation. Cost of tools and instruments is amortised
on a straight-line basis over 2 to 3 years.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated at their cost.

13
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Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Share capital

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are stated at par value. Excess of cash receipt from shares issue over par value is
recorded as share premium. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of shares, net of tax
effects, are recognised as a deduction from share premium.

Taxation

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is
recognised in the statement of income except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly
to equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted at
the end of the annual accounting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities using the tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the annual accounting period.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced
to the extent that it 1s no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

14
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Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Revenue and other income

Goods sold

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised in the statement of income when significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer. No revenue is recognised if there are
significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due or possible return of goods.
Revenue on sales of goods is recognised at the net amount after deducting sales discounts stated on
the invoice.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised in the statement of income on a time proportion basis with reference
to the principal outstanding and the applicable interest rate.

Operating lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the statement of income on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the statement of income
as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the year in which they are incurred, except where
the borrowing costs relate to borrowings in respect of the construction of qualifying assets, in which
case the borrowing costs incurred during the year of construction are capitalised as part of the cost
of the assets concerned.

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Company that is engaged either in providing related
products or services (business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular
economic environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are
different from those of other segments. The Company’s primary format for segment reporting is
based on business segments.

Earnings per share

The Company presents basic earnings per share (“EPS”) for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is
calculated by dividing the profit or loss atiributable to the ordinary shareholders (after deducting any
amounts appropriated to bonus and welfare fund for the accounting period) of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

The Company did not have potentially dilutive shares, and therefore does not present diluted earnings
per share.




(r)

(s)

(a)

(b)

Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Related parties

Parties are considered to be related to the Company if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly,
to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial
and operating decisions, or where the Company and the other party are subject to common control
or significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities and include close
family members of any individual considered to be a related party.

Comparative information

Comparative information in these financial statements is presented as corresponding figures. Under
this method, comparative information for the prior year is included as an integral part of the current
vear financial statements and is intended to be read only in relation to the amounts and other
disclosures relating to the current year. Accordingly, the comparative information included in these
financial statements is not intended to present the Company’s financial position, results of operation
or cash flows for the prior year.

Segment reporting

Business segments

The Company’s principal business activities are to produce and trade beers. Other activities are to trade
merchandise goods and to provide warehousing services, During the year, other business activities
accounted for an insignificant proportion of the total revenue and operating results of the Company.
Accordingly, the financial information presented in the balance sheets as at 31 December 2024 and 1
January 2024 and the revenue and expenses presented in the statements of income for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 were related to the Company’s principal business activities.

Geographical segments

The Company’s geographical segments are distinguished based on the locations of customers, being
the local or foreign customers, in which, export sales only accounted for an insignificant proportion
of the Company’s total revenue and did not require a separate report. Accordingly, the financial
information presented mainly reflected the business activities of the Company in the territory of

Vietnam.
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(b)

Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 - DN

(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Cash and cash equivalents
31/12/2024
VND

Cash on hand 55,837,045
Cash in banks 37,654,778,119

Cash equivalents -

1/1/2024
VND

8,887,459
29.481,071,030
236,700,000,000

37,710,615,164

266,189,958.489

Accounts receivable from customers

Accounts receivable from customers detailed by significant customers

31/12/2024
VND

211,947,177,947
11,119,820,747
1,957,383,164

Saigon Beer - Alcohol - Beverage Corporation
International Consolidated Business Pty Ltd
Other customers

1/1/2024
VND

75,668,838.210
11,120,582,256
2,917,114,405

225,024,381,858

89,706,534.,871

Accounts receivable from customers who are related parties

31/12/2024
VND

The parent company
Saigon Beer - Alcohol - Beverage Corporation 211,947,177,947
Related company

Saigon-Song Lam Beer Joint Stock Company 61,395,000

1/1/2024
VND

75,668,838,210

46,656,000

The trade related amounts due from the related parties were unsecured, interest free and receivable

within 3 to 15 days from invoice date.




(a)

Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 - DN
{Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Inventories
Inventories
31/12/2024 1/1/2024

Cost Allowance Cost Allowance

VND YND VND VND
Raw materials 88.427.355,761 - 78,395,809.465 -
Tools and supplies 10,610,600,389  (348,765,526) 8,911,054.559 (386,969,747)
Work in progress 36,764,177,458 - 41,858,714,355 -
Finished goods 47,212,513,058 - 34,302,290,224 -
Merchandise inventories 21,509,800 - 262,723,698 -

183,036,156,466  (348,765,526) 163,730,592,301 (386,969,747)

Movement of allowance for inventories during the year was as follows:

2024 2023

VND VND
Opening balance 386,969,747 400,842,737
Allowance reversed during the year (38,204,221) (13,872,990)
Closing balance 348,765,526 386,969,747
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(b)

Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Long-term tools, supplies and spare parts

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
Cost Allowance Cost Allowance
VND VYND YND VYND
Tools, supplies and
spare parts 17,238,557,706 (12,822,672,389) 13,820,617,645 (10,857,108,802)

Movements of allowance for long-term tools, supplies and spare parts during the year were as
follows:

2024 2023
VND VND

Opening balance 10,857,108,802 10,775,982,192

Allowance made during the year 2,616,026,167 1,124,916.874
Allowance reversed during the year (650.462,580)  (1,043,790,264)

Closing balance 12,822.672,389  10,857,108,802

19



0z

paretaaidap Aj[ny arom yatym (UOI[IU ZES 9TANA “H20Z/1/1) UOYIIM O LPECANA SUNS02 s1055¢ a1om g0z 19qUIada(] [€ Te SB SJasse paxyy A[qiSurs ur papnjouy

¥ e& 2% \a\

SEF0EC 0l [vL 9L0'79%°19 PTEPTILOT £00'TLO9I9 Y06 T0F ¥71°65S 8T1°698°08F 181
9LI1PE'ST6C98 PI1E6LT6 6£0°€59'9T¢E [1LSRE]T]L ££9°9L1°€95'699 618°6L8°T91°C61
STT'SSLBOY'OLT' 1 LLOLED'E]Y 9TTTO9160'1  SES'SES+06'S 80¥'806'006' 01T 6LO'PSERIT'SST
(#9€°S6£79) - (#9£°C6£'79) . . -
019°SvTIvT LTI BEO'1€6°0€ SIL'TS'6IT 895°09,°99 6CL'CTLOPL'TIL 098°S6T°LLO Y1
6L6°LO6'6IEEYI'T  6£6'901°TSH SLY'SOT' +E6 L96'880°8EL'S 6L9'v81¢S1°T66 615850 1+0 11
099°880°606°110°C  £50°006'+HS 0S59TL'861'1  8ES'LT60TS'6 TICTIESPO'Y99'l  LOT'€TT'665°9EE
(F9E£°S6ET9) " (P9L°S6£'79) # s -
698'+8Z'89S'T 3 = " 000°000°€LT'T 69887 S6E
000'0S6'+S1 < 2 . 000°056'FS1 =
SCI'6PT'SPT'600°C  €S0°006 7S FPI6'ITI 19T T 8€SLT6°0TE6 TIETOE'LIL'TO9'T  8E€E'8E6'E0TOEE
aNA aNA UNA (NA aNA aNA
210 SIAYL(Q) yuawdmba Sa[INYAA ywwdmnba $31N)oN.1yS
PRI Jd0j01y pue A1ungoeyy] pue sguipymgy

(2aupulg o Lusnpy a1 Jo #1007 12quiada( 7z paiop
DLE-LL/FI0T/00T "ON 4vInad1) 43pun panssy)

NA — 60 g w.ioyq

*aSN SALIOE UL [[1IS INq

aoueeq SUISO[)
2oue[eq Sutuadg

anfeA jooq 1aN

aoue[eq Surso[)

JJo uanuipp
Ieak a1 10) 28rey)
23ueeq Suuadn

uonenardap pajenuny

dour[eq SuIs0[)

130 uanup
ssaiBoxd ur uoNINIISU0D WOL) I3JSURL |

uonippy
soue|eq Futuady

150)

SJISSe Paxyy I[qIsue |,

(PaNuURU0d) HZOZ JIUAIA(] [¢ PIPUD IBIA N[ O] SJUIIIE)S [RIDUBUL] 31} 0] SIJON]
Auedwo)) 03§ jutof 199g redN Sueng) - uox) 1vg



10.

Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Construction in progress

2024 2023

VND VND
Opening balance 9,798,307,815 2,154,816,792
Additions 3,137,729,313 16,039,335,366
Transfer from long-term prepaid expenses 4.067,764,440 3,435.341,028
Transfer to tangible fixed assets (2,568,284,869) (6,472,056,076)
Transfer to long-term prepaid expenses - (5,359,129,295)
Closing balance 14,435,516,699 9,798,307,815

During the year, no interest expense was capitalised in construction in progress (2023: VND1,820
million).

Construction in progress comprised:

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
Nguyen Thuy project — building and structures 14,435,516,699 9,798,307,815
Long-term prepaid expenses
Prepaid Tools and Prepaid
land costs instruments  interest expense Total
VND VND VND VND
Opening balance 116,887,515,944  4,838,105,473 1,775,049451  123,500,670,868
Addition - 3.441,927.866 - 3,441,927,866
Transfer to construction
in progress (4,067,764,440) - - (4,067,764,440)
Amortisation for the
year - (2,693,149,094) (1,252,976,076)  (3,946,125,170)
Closing balance 112,819,751,504  5,586,884,245 522,073,375 118,928,709,124
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Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Accounts payable to suppliers

Accounts payable to suppliers detailed by significant suppliers

Cost/Amount within
repayment capacity
31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VYND

Saigon Beer - Alcohol - Beverage Corporation 34,567,698,610  36,161,791,739
Thai Tan Trading and Transport Company Limited 1,241,012,172 7.428,548.416
Krones AG - 127,941,523,200
Crown Beverage Cans Danang Co., Ltd - 6,289,547,950
Other suppliers 13,456,671,101 13,895,030,203

49,265,381,883  191,716,441,508

Accounts payable to suppliers who are related parties

Cost/Amount within
repayment capacity
31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VYND
The parent company
Saigon Beer - Alcohol - Beverage Corporation 34,567,698,610  36,161,791,739
Related company
Sai Gon Beer Trading Company Limited 6,166,936 23,787,917

The trade related amounts due to the related parties were unsecured, interest free and payable upon
demand
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13,

14.

Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Accrued expenses

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
Interest expense 8,481,657,149  8,503,174,958
Remuneration of the Board of Directors - 46,000,000
Others 425,995,320 1,156,711,023

8,907,652,469  9,705,885,981

Other short-term payables

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
Dividend payables 16,154,069,500 17,457,697,500
Others 3,111,071,107 2,256,222, 770

19,265,140,607 19,713,920,270
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16.

Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 - DN

(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Bonus and welfare fund

This fund is established by appropriating from retained profits as approved by the shareholders at
the General Meeting of shareholders. This fund is used to pay bonus and welfare to the Company’s

employees in accordance with the Company’s bonus and welfare policies.

Movements of bonus and welfare fund during the year were as follows:

2024 2023

VND VND
Opening balance 6,859,459,423 10,913,150,024
Appropriation during the year (Note 17) 6,178,000,000 5,700,000,000
Adjustment to bonus and welfare fund (Note 17) 1,005,776,094 (1,185,498,764)
Other receipts 12,420,000 27,440,000
Utilisation (6,664,738,995) (8,595,631,837)
Closing balance 7,390,916,522 6,859,459.423
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18.

19.

20.

Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Share capital
The Company’s authorised and issued share capital are:
31/12/2024 and 1/1/2024
Number of shares VND

Authorised and issued share capital

Ordinary shares 45,000,000 450,000,000,000
Share is caculation

Ordinary shares 45,000,000 450,000,000,000

All ordinary shares have a par value of VND10,000. Each share is entitled to one vote at meetings
of the Company. Shareholders are entitled to receive dividend as declared from time to time. All
ordinary shares are ranked equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

There was no movement in share capital for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December
2023.

Dividends

The Annual General Meeting of shareholders of the Company on 17 April 2024 resolved to declare
dividends amounting to VND67,500 million (equivalent to VNDI1,500 per share) from retained
profits of 2023 (2023: VND112,500 million (equivalent to VND2,500 per share) from retained
profits of 2022, in which dividends amounting to VND45,000 million has been advanced to
shareholders in 2022).

On 27 November 2024, the Board of Management of the Company approved Resolution No.
08/2024/NQ-HPQT on the advance payment of dividends to the shareholders amounting to
VND22,500 million from the retained profits of 2024,

Investment and development fund

Investment and development fund was appropriated from retained profits in accordance with the
resolution of General Meeting of shareholders. This fund was established for the purpose of future
business expansion.
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Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

21. Off balance sheet items

(a) Lease

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases were:

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
Within one year 3.408.321.286 3,408,321,286
From two to five years 13,633,285,144 13,633,285,144
More than five years 62,096,812,471 65,514,471,623

79,138,418,901 §2,556.078,053

(b) Foreign currency

N TRy

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
Original VND Original VND
currency equivalent currency equivalent
USD 119,436.77 3,015,897,879 171,882  4,138,882,078

(c) Capital expenditure commitments

At the reporting date, the Company had the following outstanding capital commitments approved
but not provided for in the balance sheet:

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND T
Approved but not contracted 13,790,000,000 - 0
Approved and contracted 395,555,555 1,160,129,238

29



22.

23.

Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 — DN

(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Revenue from sales of goods

Total revenue represents the gross value of goods sold, exclusive of value added tax and special sales

tax.

Total revenue
= Sales of finished goods
®  Sales of scraps

Less revenue deductions
= Sales discounts

Net revenue

Cost of sales

Finished goods sold
Allowance for inventories and long-term tools,
supplies and spare parts

2024
VYND

1,977,957,725,353
15,658,523,581

2023
VND

1,848,860,257,006
14,341,929,855

1,993,616,248,934

470,629,988

1,863,202,186,861

363,208,580

1,993,145,618.,946

1,862,838,978,281

2024
VND

1,843,628,600,045

1,927,359,366

2023
VND

1,703,748,393,067

67,253,620

1,845,555,959.411

1,703,815,646,687
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23.

26.

Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Financial income

2024 2023

VND VND
Interest income from deposits 3,083,653,163 19,033,017,452
Realised foreign exchange gains 5,764,119,943 957,760,123
Unrealised foreign exchange gains 05,583,822 -

Financial expenses

8,943,356,928

19,990,777,575

2024 2023

VND VND
Interest expense 6,619,997 448 20,294,283,087
Realised foreign exchange losses 356,530,123 186,205,365
Unrealised foreign exchange losses - 8,133.910.713
6,976,527,571 28,614,399,165

Selling expenses
2024 2023
VND VND

Qutside services

8,829,507 448

5,284,624,924

Staff costs 3,320,431,022 2,761,515,147
Others 814,481,064 544,177,723
12,964,419,534 8,590,317,794
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27.

28.

29,
(a)

Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 2000/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

General and administration expenses

2024 2023

VND VND
Staff costs 6,861,947,954 9.498,547,715
Outside services 1,502,282,593 934,765,880
Depreciation and amortisation 811,012,188 849,420,186
Others 2,316,109,813 3,643,584,862

11,491,352,548 14,926,318,643

Production and business costs by elements

2024 2023

VND VND
Raw material costs included in production costs 1,674,093,799.367  1,503,595,534.487
Depreciation and amortisation 127,260,018,256 127,478,445,142
Staff costs 49,104,121,138 56,101,453,194
Outside services 21,134,226,600 17.417,332,680
Other expenses 5,994,038,171 6,188,084,079
Corporate income tax
Recognised in the statement of income

2024 2023

VND VND
Current tax expense
Current year 24,829,874.263 25,730,049,122
Under provision in previous years 960,608,944 2,664,931,647

25,790,483,207 28,394,980,769

Deferred tax benefit
Originations of temporary differences (415,505,909) (1,470,164,297)

25,374,977,298 26,924,816,472
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(b)

(c)

Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

2024 2023

VND VND
Accounting profit before tax 125,405,305,504 127,639,010,933
Tax at the Company’s tax rate 25,081,061,101 25,527,802,187
Non-deductible expenses 261,162,196 202,246,935
Under provision in previous years 960,608,944 2,664,931,647
Effect of change in tax rate applied to deferred tax assets - (1,470,164,297)
Other adjustment (927,854,943) -

25374,977,298  26,924.816,472

Applicable tax rate

In accordance with Investment Registration Certificate No. 34121000019 dated 20 September 2007
and Official Letter No. 2106/CT-TTHT dated 4 November 2017 issued by Tax Department of Quang
Ngai Province, the Company is entitled to income tax rate of 15% of taxable profit for 12 years
starting from the first year of operation (2010) in accordance with Point b of Item 2, Article 34 of
Decree No. 24/2207/ND-CP of the Government and exempt from tax for 3 years from the first year
it generates a taxable profit (from 2013 to 2015) and entitled to a 50% reduction in income tax for
the 7 succeeding years (from 2016 to 2022). All the above tax exemption and reduction are not
applicable to taxable profit from expansion project and other income.

The standard income tax rate applicable to enterprises before any incentives is 20%.

33

i

> &

- @

IS



30.

(i)

£

()

(i)

Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 20002014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2024 was based on the
profit attributable to ordinary shareholders after deducting the amounts appropriated to bonus and
welfare fund and a weighted average number of ordinary shares, calculated as follows:

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders

2024 2023
VND VND
(Restated)

Net profit for the year 100,030,328,206 100,714,194,461
Appropriation to bonus and welfare fund (*) (6.178,000,000) (5,700,000,000)
Adjustment to bonus and welfare fund (*#) - (1,005,776,094)
Appropriation to social activities fund (472,568.,400) (200,000,000)
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 03,379,759,806 03,808,418,367

The appropriation to bonus and welfare fund was estimated based on the budgeted amount that was
approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting of shareholders.

The appropriation to bonus and welfare fund for the year ended 31 December 2023 was restated
based on the actual appropriation which was approved by shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting shareholders. Accordingly, basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2023
has been restated to YND2,085 per share based on the adjusted amount appropriated to bonus and
welfare fund (as previously reported: VND2,107 per share).

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

There was no movement in the number of shares for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used to calculate basic earnings
per share for two presented years is 45,000,000 shares.
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31.

Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 - DN

(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Significant transactions with related parties

In addition to the related party balances disclosed in other notes to the financial statements, the
Company had the following significant transactions with related parties during the year:

The parent company

Saigon Beer - Alcohol - Beverage Corporation
Sales of finished goods (inclusive of special sales tax)
Purchases of raw materials

Dividends

Repayment of land fees

Repayment of site clearance fees

Other related parties
Saigon Binh Tay Beer Group Joint Stock Company

Dividends

Saigon Beer Mien Trung Trading Joint Stock Company
Purchases of goods

Saigon-Song Lam Beer Joint Stock Company
Sales of finished goods

Sa Be Co Mechanical Co., Litd
Purchases of services

Saigon Beer Group Company Limited
Purchases of goods

Chuong Duong Beverages Joint Stock Company
Purchases of goods

Binh Tay Liquor Joint Stock Company
Purchases of goods

Sai Gon Beer Trading Company Limited
Bottles replacement fees
Income from disposal of returnable packaging

Transaction value

2024
VND

3,633,117,527,970
1,429,183,361,460
59,900,000,000

2,333,334,000

737,720,470

721,450,000

553,579,250

262,750,480

208,072,859

149,564,000

32,109,384

2023
VND

3,415,939,158,617
1,269,015,103,288
44,925,000,000
4,500,000,000
3,500,000,000

1,750,000,500

809,595,250

303,200,000

350,043,400

347,000,000

73,806,433

192,046,000

45,527,182
1,540,123,100
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32.

33.

Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 09 - DN

(Issued under Circular No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Board of Directors

Fees

Mr. Koo Liang Kwee — Chairman
Mrs. Bui Thi Nhu — Member

Mr. Dinh Van Thanh — Member
Mr. Tran Nguyen Trung — Member
Mr. Van Thao Nguyen — Member

Board of Supervisors

Fees
Mrs. Huynh Thi Thuy Nhan — Head of Board of Supervisors

Mr. Nguyen Van Hoa — Member
Mrs. Do Thi Diem Kieu — Member

Board of Management
Salary, bonus and remuneration

Transaction value

Non-cash investing activities

Fixed assets and construction in progress acquired but
not yet paid

2024 2023
VND VND
140,000,000 120,000,000
98,000,000 84,000,000
08,000,000 84,000,000
98,000,000 84,000,000
98,000,000 84,000,000
385,330,704 381,400,000
56,000,000 48,000,000
56,000,000 48,000,000
4,027,705,582 4,723,685,104
2024 2023
VND VND

129,301,065,901

Comparative information

Except for the restatement of basic earnings per share as disclosed in Note 30, the comparative
information as at 1 January 2024 was derived from the balances and amounts reported in the

Company’s financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Prepared by:

0 Thanh Cuong
Chief Accountant
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SABECO

SAI GON - QUANG NGAI BEER JOINT STOCK COMPANY
Address: Quang Phu 1Z, Quang Ngai City, Quang Ngai Province

Tel: +84.255.6250905; 6250906 ; Fax: +84.255.6250910

Email: beer@sabecoquangngai.com.vn;Website: www.sabecoquangngai.com.vn
Business License no.: 4300338460 issued by Quang Ngai Province P&I Dept. on 04/12/2024

No.: 05/2025/BC-HDQT

Quang Ngai, April 04, 2025

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
FOR 2024 BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND 2025 PLAN

Dear Shareholders of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company

The Board of Directors of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company would like to report
on 2024 business performance and 2025 plan to Shareholders as follows:

l.
1.

ASSESSMENT OF 2024 BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
Overview

In 2024, the world's macroeconomic situation shows signs of recovery but is slow and
still faces many risks and uncertainties. Although inflation has cooled down, but still
remains at a high level. International trade, consumption and investment have declined,
many currencies have depreciated, trade tensions have increased, geopolitical instability
and military conflicts have caused fluctuations in raw material prices, affecting
production costs... which have impacted the Vietnamese economy in general and the beer
industry in particular.

Businesses continue to gradually adapt to revised policies & bills: tax (revised),
advertising (revised), implement mandatory obligations on environmental protection from
2024, converting to using green raw materials, protect the environment, cut greenhouse
gas emissions, impacts from a number of state mechanisms and policies related to the
Law on Prevention of Harmful Effects of Alcohol and Beer... have increased production
costs for businesses.

Consumers tighten spending because of reduced income; Fierce competition among
breweries to compete for market share has led to a decline in beer consumption.

The company has continued seeking & applying measures to reduce costs of goods and
services, reduce consumption in production, and reduce costs of goods sold.

The company has always received the support from SABECO, from the local
government, as well as determination and effort of all employees of the Company that has
contributed to achieve 2024 business targets.

Business Performance in 2024

2024
Plan

2023
Actual

2024
Actual

% Change on
Actual

% Change

S on Plan

Categories

Net Revenues

Billion VND

1,862.84

2,104.07

1,993.15

7.00%

-5.27%

Tax contributions
to State Budget

Billion VND

1,871.82

2,112.48

2,017.08

7.76%

-4.51%

Profit After Tax

Billion VND

100.71

94.51

100.03

-0.68%

5.84%

Factors affecting the increase in the 2024 actual profit compared to the 2024 plan:

- The actual volume does not meet the planned volume, but the Profit reaches 105% of the

plan.

1| BOD report - AGM 2025




3.2.

3.3.

3.4.

- Implement production cost-saving solutions: costs of electricity, saturated steam &
process water; Reduce waste consumption of raw materials & fuel in production... that
contribute to increase the profit.

- Reduce inventory costs of equipment, spare parts; increase equipment maintenance,
ensure continuous production, and exploit equipment capacity well.

- Balance cash flow to reduce working capital loans interest costs.

The Board of Directors’ Activities in 2024
The Board of Directors’ remuneration:

The remuneration of the Board of Directors is implemented in accordance with the
Resolution of the 2024 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, in compliance with the
relevant provisions of law and the Company on salaries, remunerations, and bonuses for the
Board of Directors.

Specific information and data on the Board of Directors' remuneration are presented in detail
in the 2024 audited financial statements; Report on the Company's governance in 2024 and
are published on the Company's website at http://sabecoquangngai.com.vn, section
"Shareholder news/archives".

Meetings and decisions of the Board of Directors

In 2024, the Board of Directors held 04 regular meetings to pass decisions within the
authority of the Board of Directors in directing and supervising the Company's business and
investment activities in accordance with regulations and the actual business situation, to
have important orientations to support the Board of Management in the management to
achieve the 2024 business plan.

The resolutions and decisions of the Board of Directors are presented in detail in the 2024
Company Governance Report and published on the Company's website at
http://sabecoquangngai.com.vn, section "Shareholder news/ archives".

Transactions between the Company and related parties

The detailed transactions with related parties are presented in detail in the 2024 Company
Management  Report and  published on the Company's  website at
http://sabecoquangngai.com.vn, section "Shareholder news/ archives".

Monitoring and evaluating the activities of the Board of Management

The Board of Directors has operated in accordance with the Charter, the Enterprise Law, and
legal regulations, closely followed the resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders,
approved tasks, programs, plans, other activities and the actual situation to seriously direct
all aspects of the Company's activities.

The results of the direction and supervision of the Company's activities in Y2024 are
reflected in the following areas:
= Business activities:

+ Implement corporate governance, production management very well, ensure the target
of cost reduction, productivity improvement, operating capacity of the equipment
system, ensure product quality and occupational hygiene safety, food safety,
prevention of natural disasters, pandemic and environmental protection.

+ Supply proper and sufficient beer volume to the market.

+ Closely coordinate with SABECO's functional departments in terms of technology,
technique and quality; supply raw materials for production in time.

+ The quality of all kinds of beer products meets 100% technical standards.
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+ Ensure the full implementation of the legal policies on Environment, Taxation,
Finance and other legal systems to serve production, business and investment
promptly.

= |nvestment activities:

+ Investment project at no. 06 Nguyen Thuy, Tran Phu Ward, Quang Ngai City: The
project has not been able to implement in 2024 due to waiting for approval to change
the design drawings to build enough ground floor area of over 10,000m2 to meet the
standards of the Commercial Center. It is expected to apply for the construction permit
from June 2025, go into operation in June 2026.

+ Investment project in 03 malt silos, 500 tons/silo and a barley milling system: has
started from December 2024, expected to be completed in May 2025. The completed
system will meet grinding capacity on demand, increasing imported barley reserves
will stabilize production.

= Human Resources:
Coordinated with SABECO Human Resources Department to develop and complete
regulations on human resources and salaries according to SABECQO's general structure.
= Trade Union and other activities:

+ Communist Party Organization, Trade Unions and Youth Unions coordinate &
participate in social security activities of the Company and of SABECO; Join in
developing the image of Saigon Beer locally to support sales.

+ Coordinate to create harmonious benefits between shareholders and employees;
Communist Party, Youth Union & Trade Union of the Company still maintain their
good relationship with the local ones.

Il. 2025 OUTLOOK
1. 2025 Business & Investment plan

Based on the 2025 production and delivery plan approved by SABECO, the company's
Board of Directors agreed on some main business targets to submit to the General Meeting
of Shareholders for consideration and approval as follows:

Categories Unit 2024 Actual 2025 Plan % Growth rate
Net Revenues Billion VND 1,993.15 2,079.49 4.33%
Contributions to State | gy, 00 \/ND 2.017.08 2.136.27 5.91%
Budget
Profit after tax Billion VND 100.03 106.21 6.18%

Factors affecting the 2025 business plan:

- Sales volume: greatly affected because consumers have gradually adapted to legal
policies on limiting the impact of alcohol on health and traffic safety.

- Profit:
+ Depends on production and sales volume during the year.
+ Depends on the prices of imported raw materials and energy.
Therefore, the yearly planned profit is only an estimate, but the fluctuations have been
estimated in advance so it will not change much compared to the plan.
2. Implementation direction
- For the investment project at no. 06 Nguyen Thuy Street, Quang Ngai City:
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+ Complete and approve the adjusted design and total estimate for the ground floor area
of 10,116m2.

+ Construction is expected to start in 2025.

- Organize implementation of resolutions, decisions of the General Meeting of
Shareholders, of Board of Directors and development orientation of SABECO’s Board of
Management.

- Continue to direct the Management Board to manage the company in accordance with
Sabeco's regulations and current laws: Good production management, product quality
management; Using capital resource and other existing resources of the Company for the
right purposes, ensuring economic efficiency, reducing costs, improving business
efficiency; Ensure occupational safety, production safety, fire prevention and
environmental protection.

- Coordinate with SABECO Human Resources Department to continue perfecting policies,
and regulations on labor and wages according to SABECQ's orientation; Continue to
promote the working spirit of good and honest individuals to spread the spirit of eager
learning and hard-working of employees throughout the Company; Ensure income for the
employees equal to the common level in the region, linking income with business
efficiency.

Above is the BOD’s report on 2024 business performance and 2025 plan.

The BOD would like to submit to the AGM to consider and give comments so that the BOD can
work more effectively, contribute to the stable and sustainable development of Sai Gon - Quang
Ngai Beer JSC.

Respectfully yours./.

BOD CHAIRMAN
(Signed)

Koo Liang Kwee
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SABECO

SAI GON - QUANG NGAI BEER JOINT STOCK COMPANY
Address: Quang Phu 1Z, Quang Ngai City, Quang Ngai Province
Tel: +84.255.6250905; 6250906 ; Fax: +84.255.6250910
Email: beer@sabecoquangngai.com.vn;Website: www.sabecoquangngai.com.vn

Business Licence no.: 4300338460 issued by Quang Ngai Province P&I Dept. on 04/12/2024

No: 01/2025/BC-BKS

Quang Ngai, April 04, 2025

REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
FOR 2024 PERFORMANCE AND 2025 PLAN

Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises no.: 59/2020/QH14, dated June 17, 2020;
Pursuant to the Charter of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company;

Pursuant to the Resolution no.: 01/2024/NQ-DHDCD, dated April 17, 2024 of the Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company;

Pursuant to the financial statements Y2024 audited by KPMG Audit Company.

The Supervisory Board of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company would like to report
on 2024 performance and 2025 plan to Shareholders as follows:

Remuneration, operating costs and other benefit of the Supervisory Board in 2024
1. Ms. Huynh Thi Thuy Nhan - Head

2. Mr. Nguyen Van Hoa - Member

3. Ms. Do Thi Diem Kieu - Member

1. The Supervisory Board’s Activities in Y2024

11.1. Total number of meetings were convened in Y2024
- Total number of meetings: 04.

Supervision of the Company’s activities:

+ The Supervisory Board performed the tasks assigned by the General Meeting of
Shareholders, i.e: monitored and supervised the Resolutions of the Board of Directors,
Decisions of the Board of Management and all aspects of business activities of Sai Gon -
Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company.

+ The Supervisory Board performed other rights and obligations in accordance with the
Law on Enterprises, the Company's Charter and resolutions of the General Meeting of

Shareholders.

385,330,704 VND
56,000,000 VND
56,000,000 VND

+ The Board of Management implemented well the Resolution of the General Meeting of
Shareholders, good management of production, material norms, and cost savings.

Y2024 Business results of the Company

Categories Unit 2023 2024 Az | ECIEILEen) YoE e
g Actual Plan Actual Actual on Plan
Net Revenues Billion VND| 1,862.84|2,104.07|1,993.15 7.00% -5.27%
Tax contributions | oy \ND | 1.871.82| 2,112.48 | 2,017.08 7.76%|  -4.51%
to State Budget
Profit After Tax Billion VND 100.71 9451, 100.03 -0.68% 5.84%

Business performance results of 2024: profit after tax: 100.03 billion VND, exceeding the
plan of 5.52 billion VND, increasing by 5.84%.
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11.2. Results of supervision of the activities and financial status of the Company

The financial statements 2024 of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer JSC were audited by KPMG
Company in 2024. The Supervisory Board acknowledges that the financial statements 2024
were recorded honestly and reasonably in accordance with Vietnamese accounting standards

and policies.
Financial Growth rate
indicators Y2024 Y2023 Y2024/Y2023
ROS 5.02% 5.41% -0.39%
ROA 7.52% 6.60% 0,92%
ROE 11.95% 12.07% -0,12%

11.3. Results of supervision on the Board of Directors, the Management Board

All activities of the Board of Directors and the Board of Management in 2024 have
complied with the Enterprise Law, Securities Law, Company Charter, related regulations
and well complied with the resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders.

11.4. Results of assessment of coordination between the Supervisory Board and the Board
of Directors, the Management Board

The Board of Directors, the Board of Management of the Company have created favorable
conditions for the Supervisory Board to perform its duties, provided all the Resolutions and
Decisions of the Board of Directors and other documents related to business activities of the
company at the request of the Supervisory Board.

I11. 2025 Outlook

1. Supervise the implementation of resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders and
the Company's Board of Directors in 2025.

2. Supervise the observance of legal regulations, the Company's Charter.

3. Monitor plans, implementation of business and investment tasks of the company.
4. Review and evaluate the financial statements of the company in 2025.

5. Participate in all meetings of the company's Board of Directors and Executives.

The Supervisory Board would like to submit the above report on 2024 performance and 2025
plan to Shareholders for approval.

Respectfully yours.

ON BEHALF OF

Recibient THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
ecipients:
~ AGM: Head

- BOD, BOM;
- SB members..

Nguyen Van Hoa

2 | Report of the Supervisory Board - 2025 AGM



SAlI GON QUANG NGAI BEER JOINT STOCK COMPANY
Address: Quang Phu 1Z, Quang Ngai City, Quang Ngai Province
Tel: +84.255.6250905; 6250906 Fax: +84.255.6250910

' Email: beer@sabecoquangngai.com.vn;Website: www.sabecoquangngai.com.vn
SABECO Business Licence no.: 4300338460 issued by Quang Ngai Province P&I Dept. on 04/12/2024

No.: 02/2025/TTr-BKS Quang Ngai City, April 04, 2025

PROPOSAL
Re: Selecting the independent auditor for the fiscal year 2025

Dear Shareholders of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company,

Pursuant to the Enterprise Law no.: 59/2020/QH14 dated 17/6/2020;
Pursuant to the Charter and Regulations of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company.

The Supervisory Board Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company would like to seek
Shareholders’ approval on granting authorities to the Board of Directors in order to select the
independent auditor for Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer JSC in the fiscal year 2025 and all relevant
periods according to SABECO’s independent auditor.

Respectfully yours.

ON BEHALF OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

HEAD
Recipients: (Signed)
- As above;
- BOS;
- Saved at BOD secretary;
- Archives.

Nguyen Van Hoa


mailto:beer@sabecoquangngai.com.vn
http://www.sabecoquangngai.com.vn/

SABECO

Fax: +84.255.6250910

SAIGON QUANG NGAI BEER JOINT STOCK COMPANY
Address: Quang Phu 1Z, Quang Ngai City, Quang Ngai Province

Tel: +84.255.6250905; 6250906
Email: beer@sabecoquangngai.com.vn;Website: www.sabecoquangngai.com.vn
Business Licence no.: 4300338460 issued by Quang Ngai Province P&I Dept. on 04/12/2024

No.: 06/2025/TTr-HDbQT

PROPOSAL

Quang Ngai City, April 04, 2025

Re: 2024 Profit Distribution and 2025 Profit Distribution Plan

Dear Shareholders of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company,

Pursuant to 2024 actual results, the Board of Directors of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock
Company would like to propose the 2024 profit distribution and the 2025 profit distribution plan
for Shareholders’ approval as follows:

1. 2024 profit distribution

Mil VND
Seq Categories 2024 Budget 2024 Actual
1 Undistributed profit - beginning 279,457 279,457
2 Profit after tax 94,514 100,030
3 Profit distribution:
- Bonus and Welfare Fund 6,178 6,696
- Social Activities Fund 473 473
- Dividend 67,500 67,500
- Dividend ratio 15.00% 15.00%
4 Undistributed profit - ending 299,821 304,819
2. 2025 profit distribution plan
Mil VND
Seq Categories 2024 Actual 2025 Budget
1 Undistributed profit - beginning 279,457 304,819
2 Profit after tax 100,030 106,210
3 Profit distribution:
- Bonus and Welfare Fund 6,696 6,384
- Social Activities Fund 473 531
- Dividend 67,500 67,500
- Dividend ratio 15.00% 15.00%
4 Undistributed profit - ending 304,819 336,614

Respectfully yours.

Recipients:
- As above;

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- Saved at BOD secretary/Archives.

BOD CHAIRMAN

(Signed)

Koo Liang Kwee
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Address: Quang Phu 1Z, Quang Ngai City, Quang Ngai Province
Tel: +84.255.6250905; 6250906 Fax: +84.255.6250910

. Email: beer@sabecoquangngai.com.vn;Website: www.sabecoquangngai.com.vn
SABECO Business Licence no.: 4300338460 issued by Quang Ngai Province P&I Dept. on 04/12/2024

g SAIGON QUANG NGAI BEER JOINT STOCK COMPANY

No.: 07/2025/TTr-HPQT Quang Ngai City, April 04, 2025

PROPOSAL

Re: Settlement of remuneration, bonus in 2024
for the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board

Dear Shareholders of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company

Pursuant to the Resolution no. 01/2024/NQ-DHDCD dated 17/4/2024 of the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer JSC;

Pursuant to the production and business targets for 2024 of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer JSC.

The Board of Directors would like to propose the Shareholders to approve the VND 598,000,000
remuneration, bonus of the non full-time members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory
Board in 2024.

Including:
- Remuneration fund: 598,000,000 VND.
- Bonus fund: 0 VND.

Respectfully yours.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
BOD CHAIRMAN

Recipients: Siagned
- As above; ( g )

- Saved at BOD secretary/Archives.

Koo Liang Kwee


mailto:beer@sabecoquangngai.com.vn
http://www.sabecoquangngai.com.vn/

SAIGON QUANG NGAI BEER JOINT STOCK COMPANY
Address: Quang Phu 1Z, Quang Ngai City, Quang Ngai Province
Tel: +84.255.6250905; 6250906 Fax: +84.255.6250910

: Email: beer@sabecoquangngai.com.vn;Website: www.sabecoquangngai.com.vn
SABECO Business Licence no.: 4300338460 issued by Quang Ngai Province P&I Dept. on 04/12/2024

No.: 08/2025/TTr-HPQT Quang Ngai City, April 04, 2025

PROPOSAL

Re: Remuneration, bonus plan in 2025
for the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board

Dear Shareholders of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company

Pursuant to SABECQ’s direction.

The Board of Directors would like to propose the Shareholders to approve the VND 675,000,000
(in words: Six hundred seventy five million VN dongs) remuneration, bonus of the Board of
Directors and the Supervisory Board in 2025.

Including:
- Remuneration fund: 675,000,000 VND.
- Bonus fund: 0 VND.

Respectfully yours.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
BOD CHAIRMAN
(Signed)

Recipients:
- As above;

- Saved at BOD secretary/Archives.

Koo Liang Kwee
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Address: Quang Phu 1Z, Quang Ngai City, Quang Ngai Province
Tel: +84.255.6250905; 6250906 Fax: +84.255.6250910

SABECO Email: beer@sabecoquangngai.com.vn; Website: www.sabecoquangngai.com.vn
Business Licence no.: 4300338460 issued by Quang Ngai Province P&I Dept. on 04/12/2024

g SAIGON QUANG NGAI BEER JOINT STOCK COMPANY

No.: 09/2025/TTr-HPQT Quang Ngai City, April 04, 2025

PROPOSAL
Re: Sign contracts with related parties under the authority
of the General Meeting of Shareholders

Dear Shareholders of Saigon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company

Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises no.: 59/2020/QH14 dated 17/6/2020;
Pursuant to Securities Law no. 54/2019/QH14 dated November 26, 2019;
Pursuant to the Charter and regulations of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer JSC.

The Board of Directors of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer JSC would like to propose the
shareholders to approve the following contents:

1. Approve any contract and transaction that is worth at least 35% of the total assets written in
the latest financial statement or any transaction that causes the total transaction value in 12
months from the date of the first transaction reach at least 35% of the total assets written in
the latest financial between the company and one of the following entities:

a) Production and supply contract between the Company and Sai Gon Beer - Alcohol -
Beverage Joint Stock Corporation (SABECO) and Sai Gon Beer Trading Company
Limited,

b) Contract for purchasing raw materials and production control between the Company and
SABECO;

c¢) Contracts and transactions for purchasing and selling goods, supplies, packaging, spare
parts, technical services, repairs, etc. with related individuals & organizations of
SABECO, including but not limited to: subsidiaries and affiliated companies according to
relevant laws.

(All of the above contracts and transactions are referred to as "Transactions™).

2. According to the 2025 business plan approved by the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders (AGM), the Company's Legal Representative is assigned by AGM to:

a) Decide on the specific terms and conditions of the Transaction and contracts, agreements,
and documents related to the Transaction, including agreements to amend, supplement,
replace, and terminate the Transaction (if any) in accordance with the conditions
specified in Section 1 above; and

b) Sign and implement Transactions and documents related to Transactions, including
agreements to amend, supplement, replace, and terminate Transactions (if any) in
accordance with the conditions specified in Section 1 above.

The Board of Directors respectfully submits to the AGM for consideration and approval.

Respectfully yours.
BOD CHAIRMAN

Recipients: (Signed)

- As above;
- Saved at BOD secretary/Archives.

Koo Liang Kwee
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Address: Quang Phu 1Z, Quang Ngai City, Quang Ngai Province
Tel: +84.255.6250905; 6250906 Fax: +84.255.6250910

S ABECO Email: beer@sabecoquangngai.com.vn;Website: www.sabecoquangngai.com.vn
Business Licence no.: 4300338460 issued by Quang Ngai Province P&I Dept. on 04/12/2024

g SAIGON QUANG NGAI BEER JOINT STOCK COMPANY

No.: 10/2025/TTr-HPQT Quang Ngai City, April 04, 2025

PROPOSAL
Ref.: Amendments to the Internal Regulations of Corporate Governance

Dear Shareholders of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company

Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises no.: 59/2020/QH14 dated 17/6/2020;

Pursuant to Circular no. 116/2020/TT-BTC, dated December 31, 2020 of the Minister of
Finance on guiding a number of articles on corporate governance applicable to public companies
in Decree no. 155/2020/ND-CP, December 31, 2020, detailing the implementation of a number
of articles of the Securities Law;

Pursuant to the Charter and regulations of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer JSC.

The Board of Directors of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer JSC would like to propose the
following draft on amendments made to the Internal Regulations on Corporate Governance for
Shareholders’ approval. The amended contents are in accordance with the Law on Enterprises
2020 and Circular no.: 116/2020/TT-BTC.

[Please find amended contents in the summary page attached].

Respectfully yours.

ON BEHALF OF
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Chairman

Recipients: Sianed
- As above; ( g )

- Saved at BOD secretary/Archives.

Koo Liang Kwee
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SUMMARY OF THE AMENDED CONTENTS OF INTERNAL REGULATIONS
ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OF SAIGON - QUANG NGAI BEER JOINT
STOCK COMPANY

Amendment

Article 8 - Order and procedures for the General Meeting of Shareholders to retify
resolutions through online meetings or through both face-to-face and online meetings

1.

Annual and extraordinary general meetings of shareholders may be held through online
meetings or both face-to-face and online meetings or in any other electronic form in the
event of (i) force majeure, including but not limited to: natural disasters, war, epidemics,
uprisings, riots, terrorism, State restrictions or bans; and/or (ii) other objective events that
the Board of Directors considers inconvenient and/or inappropriate to convene the General
Meeting of Shareholders in a normal manner.

In case the Board of Directors decides to convene the General Meeting of Shareholders in
the form specified in Clause 1 of this Article, the Board of Directors is responsible for
publishing and announcing on the Company's website the Regulations on organizing the
General Meeting of Shareholders no later than twenty-one (21) days before the meeting
date, including:

2.1. Instructions on the order and procedures for organizing the General Meeting of
Shareholders according to the form specified in Clause 1 of this Article.

2.2. Regulating electronic voting methods and other similar voting methods so that
shareholders can exercise their voting rights at the General Meeting of Shareholders.

2.3. Regulations on vote counting methods and announcement of vote counting results.

2.4. Provide other contents related to the convening of the General Meeting of Shareholders
in the form specified in Clause 1 of this Article.
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CHAPTER |
GENERAL PROVISIONS

Article 1. Scope and regulated entities

1. Scope: Internal regulations on corporate governance stipulate the roles, rights and
obligations of the General Meeting of Shareholders, Board of Directors, Director; order and
procedures for the General Meeting of Shareholders; nominate, self-nominate, elect, dismiss
and remove members of the Board of Directors, Supervisory Board, Director and other
activities as prescribed in the company's charter and other current regulations of law.

2. Regulated entities: This Regulations applies to the members of the Board of Directors, the
Supervisory Board, Director and related persons.

Article 2. Interpretation of terms and abbreviated words

Terms defined in the company charter are automatically understood to be similarly applied in
this Regulation. The terms defined and the abbreviated words will have the following meanings:

1. “Company”: Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company.

2. “GMS™: the General Meeting of Shareholders of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint
Stock Company.

3. “BOD: The Board of Directors of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock
Company.

4, “SB™: The Supervisory Board of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock
Company.

5. “Law on Enterprises”: Law on Enterprises no. 59/2020/QH14 ratified by the National
Assembly on June 17, 2020, and takes effect from January 1, 2021

6. "Law on Securities": the Law on Securities no. 59/2019/QH14 ratified by the National
Assembly on November 26, 2019 taking effect as from January 01, 2021.

7. “Internal regulations on corporate governance” or “ Regulation”: a system of rules to ensure
that the Company’s governance is oriented and effectively controlled for the
benefit of the shareholders and related persons of the Company.

8. “Company Charter”: The Charter of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company
ratified by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

In this regulation, the references to one or more of the articles of the Company Charter, internal
regulations or legal documents include any amendments, supplements or replacements for those
documents, regulations.

Article 3. Principles of application of specialized laws

In cases where a specialized law contains provisions on corporate governance other than the
provisions of this Regulation, the provisions of specialized law shall apply.

Article 4. Internal regulations on corporate governance

Internal regulations on governance of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company were
developed and submitted to the GMS for approval. Internal corporate governance regulations are
not allowed to violate the prohibitions of the law and contravene the Company's Charter.
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CHAPTER 11
GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

Article 5. Roles, rights and obligations of the General Meeting of Shareholders

1.

The GMS shall consist of all voting shareholders and is the supreme body of a joint stock
company. The annual GMS shall be convened within 04 months from the end of the fiscal
year. Unless otherwise prescribed by the company's charter, the Board of Directors shall
decide deferral of the annual GMS where necessary by up to 06 months from the end of the
fiscal year. In addition to the annual meeting, an extraordinary GMS may be held. The
meeting location is the place where the chair attends and shall be within Vietnam’s territory.

Rights and obligations of the GMS
2.1. The annual GMS shall have the right to discuss and approve the following issues:

a) Annual business plan of the company;
b) Audited annual financial statement;
c) Report of the Board of Directors;

d) Report of the Supervisory Board;

e) Annual dividends payout ratio for each type of shares in compliance with the Law
on Enterprises and the rights attached to such type of shares;

f) Number of members of the Board of Directors, Supervisory Board:;

g) Election, dismissal, removal and replacement of members of the Board of Directors
and the Supervisory Board;

h) Operating budget or total remuneration, bonus and other benefits for members of
the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board;

i) Approve the list of independent audit companies; choose independent audit
companies carry out audit of the company; dismiss independent audits where
necessary;

J) Supplementation and amendment of the company’s charter;
k) Type of shares and number of new shares to be issued for each type of share;
I) Division, separation, consolidation, merger or conversion of the company;

m)Re-organization and dissolution (liquidation) of the Company and appointment of
liquidators;

n) Decisions on investment/sale of assets that worth at least 35% of the total value of
the company’s total assets stated in the most recent audited financial statement;

0) Decisions on re-acquirement of more than 10% of the total shares of each type;

p) The company sign contracts and make transactions with the entities specified in
Clause 1 Article 167 of the Law on enterprises that worth at least 35% of the total
assets of the company which is stated in the latest financial statements;

q) Approve the transactions specified in Clause 4, Article 293 of the Government's
Decree no. 155/2020/ND-CP dated December 31, 2020 detailing the
implementation of a number of articles of the Law on Securities;

r) Approve the internal regulations on corporate governance, operating regulations of
the Board of Directors, operating regulations of the Supervisory Board;

s) Other issues as prescribed by the law and this charter.

2.2. The shareholders are not entitled to vote in the following cases:
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a) Approval of contracts specified in Clause 2.1 this Article when that shareholder or
his/her related person is a party to the contract;

b) The re-acquirement of shares of that shareholder or his/her related person shall not
include the case where the re-acquirement of shares is made in proportion to the
ownership of all shareholders or the re-acquirement is made through the mode of
order-matching transactions on the Stock Exchange or public offer in accordance
with law provisions.

2.3. All Resolutions and issues put on the meeting agenda must be discussed and voted at
the GMS.

Article 6. Procedures for GMS to ratify resolutions by direct voting at GMS

1.

Authority to convene GMS: The Board of Directors shall convene GMS or GMS is
convened in accordance with the cases specified in Point b or ¢ Clause 4 Article 14 the
Company Charter.

Prepare a list of shareholders eligible to participate and vote at GMS: The list of
shareholders eligible to participate in GMS shall be made not sooner than ten (10) days
before the invitations to GMS are sent.

Notice of closing the list of shareholders entitled to attend GMS is made at least 20 days
before the last registration date.

The notice of GMS shall be sent in a guaranteed method to all shareholders, at the same time
published on the website of the company, the State Securities Commission and the Stock
Exchange where the Company’s shares, stocks are listed or registered for trading. The
convener of GMS shall send the invitations to all shareholders in the list of shareholders
eligible to attend GMS at least twenty one (21) days before the opening date of GMS (from
the date on which the invitation is sent or transferred legally with postage or put in the
mailbox). The agenda of GMS, the documents related to the issues to be voted at the
meeting shall be sent to the shareholders and/or posted on the company's website. In cases
where there are no documents attached to the invitations, the meeting invitations must state
clearly the website address so that the shareholders can access, including:

a) Meeting agenda and documents used in the meeting;

b) A list and specific information of the candidates in cases of election of members of the
Board of Directors or the Supervisory Board;

c) Ballots;

d) Form of appointment of authorized person to attend the meeting;

e) Draft Resolution applicable to each issue in the meeting agenda.
Regulations on shareholders’ proposals included in the GMS meeting agenda:

a) Shareholders or groups of shareholders specified in Clause 3 Article 12 of the Company
Charter may propose issues to be included in the GMS agenda. The proposal must be in
writing and must be sent to the company at least three (03) working days prior to the
opening date of GMS. The proposal shall contain the names of shareholders, the
number of shares of each type of shareholder and the proposed issues.

b) The convener of GMS may reject the above proposal in the following cases:
v" The proposal is not sent in due time or with inadequate and improper contents;

v" At the time of proposal, shareholders or groups of shareholders do not hold at least
5% of total ordinary shares in accordance with Clause 3 Article 12 of the Company
Charter;

v The proposed issue is not within the scope of competence of GMS;
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v" Other cases as prescribed by the law and the Company Charter.
6. The authorization for a representative to attend GMS:

a) Shareholders and representatives of shareholders that are organizations may directly
participate in the GMS or authorize one or some other organizations and individuals to
participate the GMS, or participate in the GMS in one of the forms specified in Clause
3 Article 144 of the Law on Enterprises.

b) The authorization of participants in the GMS as prescribed in Clause 1 of this Article
shall be made in writing. The authorization letter shall be made in accordance with civil
laws and specify the name of the authorized shareholder, the name of the individual, the
authorized organization, the number of authorized shares, the content of authorization,
the scope of authorization, term of authorization, signatures of the principal and the
authorized party.

c) The authorized participant shall present the authorization letter before entering the
meeting room. In case of re-authorization, the re-authorized participant attending the
GMS must present the initial authorization documents of shareholders, authorized
representatives of institutional shareholders (if they have not been registered with the
Company before).

The votes of the authorized person attending the meeting within the scope of
authorization are still valid when one of the following occurs, except for

- The authorizer has passed away, is restricted or lost his/her legal capacity;
- The authorizer has cancelled the authorization;
- The authorizer has cancelled the competence of the authorized person.

This provision does not apply in cases the company receives a notice on one of the
aforementioned events before the opening of the GMS or before the meeting is
reconvened.

7. GMS attendance registration method:

7.1. Before opening the meeting, the company must carry out the procedures for registration
of shareholders and must continue to carry out the registration until all of the
shareholders entitled to attend the meeting have completed the registration;

7.2. Shareholders or authorized representatives who arrive after the opening of the meeting
may register immediately and has the right to attend and vote at the meeting after
registration. The Chairperson does not have the responsibilities to pause the meeting for
late shareholders to register and the effect of the issues voted previously shall remain
unchanged,;

7.3. Procedures for authorizing and setting up a power of attorney for shareholders:
Shareholders will perform the authorization in writing to the person authorized to attend
the meeting in the form of the Company attached to the invitation to GMS.
Shareholders can send information about the authorization document in advance to the
meeting organizer before the date of GMS.

8. Conditions for holding GMS:

8.1. A GMS shall be held when it is attended by a number of shareholders representing at
least 50% of shares with voting rights;

8.2. In case the conditions for conducting the meeting prescribed in Clause 1 of this Article
are not fulfilled, the second invitation shall be sent within 30 days from the first
meeting date. The second GMS shall be conducted when it is participated by a number
of shareholders that represent at least 33% of the votes;

8.3. In case the conditions for conducting the second meeting prescribed in Clause 2 of this
Avrticle are not fulfilled, the third invitation shall be sent within 20 days from the second
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meeting date. The third GMS shall be conducted regardless of the number of votes
represented by the participants.

9. Voting:

9.1. When carrying out the registration of shareholders, the company shall issue to each
shareholder or authorized representative with voting right a voting card on which bear
the registration number and full name of the shareholder, full name of the authorized
representative and the number of votes of such shareholder. The shareholders' voting
rights are proportional to the number of votes recorded on the voting card.
Shareholders/ authorized persons vote on the issues at GMS by voting cards, approving
each issue by raising voting cards clearly expressing their affirmative, negative, and
abstentions.

a) In case a shareholder/ authorized person does not raise the voting card in all three
votes: affirmative, negative, and abstentions of an issue, it is considered as voting
affirmative of that issue.

b) In case a shareholder/ authorized person raises the voting card in all three votes:
affirmative, negative, and abstentions of an issue, it is considered as voting negative
of that issue.

c) In the form of voting by raising the voting cards, members of the Vote Counting
Committee mark the code and the corresponding number of affirmative, negative,
and abstentions votes of each shareholder.

9.2. In some cases, the Chairman may decide to get shareholders' opinions by filling in ballot
papers on some issues raised in the agenda of the meeting. The ballot paper is issued to
each shareholder/ authorized person. On the ballot paper, there is registration number,
full name of shareholder/ authorized person and number of votes of that shareholder.
Shareholders/ authorized persons tick the options showing clearly affirmative, negative,
and abstentions on each specific issue.

+»+ Valid ballot paper:
v" Follow the template issued by GMS’s Convening Committee.

v Not be erased nor changed in printed content. In case there was any content that
needs to be added, the order of such contents must follow the last content. The
additional contents shall not be acceptable except for the contents required by GMS
Convening Committee.

v Must be signed and have full name of shareholder/ authorized person.

v’ For separate voting content (report, proposal): Choose one (1) of three (03) voting
options on the ballot paper.

+ Invalid Voting Ballot: is the ballot paper which does not meet one of above conditions
of valid ballot papers, except for the voting content that proved to be valid shall be
counted and recognized.

9.3. In the case of voting to elect members of the Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board,
the Company will issue to each shareholder/ person authorized to attend the meeting a
ballot paper with a list of candidates for members of the Board of Directors, the
Supervisory Board approved by GMS to proceed with voting as prescribed in Article 6 of
this Regulation.

10. The Vote Counting Committee is responsible for recording, checking the number of votes on
affirmative, negative, and abstentions of each content adopted at GMS. At the same time, it is
responsible for statistics and reporting results of vote counting at GMS.

11. Announcement of the results of counting votes: after conducting the counting of votes, the
vote counting committee shall announce the results of counting votes directly at GMS.
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Announcement of vote counting results must state clearly the total number of valid votes
(including total number of affirmative, negative and abstention votes) and total number of
invalid votes, corresponding to the voting rate for each issue voted by the shareholders at the
meeting. In case of voting for members of the Board of Directors, announcement of the vote
counting results must specify the total number of affirmative, negative and abstention votes
of each candidate for the member of the Board of Directors. The minutes of vote counting
results must be published on the website of the Company within 24 hours from the
completion time of vote counting.

12. Ratification of GMS resolutions: GMS resolutions shall be ratified by direct voting at GMS.
13. Conditions for ratification of resolutions of GMS:

13.1. A resolution on one of the following issues will be ratified if it is voted for by a
number of shareholders that represent at least 65% of votes of all participants, except
for the cases specified in Clauses 3, 4 and 6 Article 148 of the Law on Enterprises:

a) Types of shares and quantity of each type;
b) Change of the company’s business lines;
c) Change of the company’s organizational structure;

d) Investment or sale of assets that are worth at least 35% of the total assets written in
the latest financial statement;

e) Reorganization or dissolution of the company

13.2. A resolution will be ratified when it is voted for by a number of shareholders that hold
more than 50% of the votes of all participants, except for the cases specified in
Clauses 1 of this Article and Clause 3, 4 and 6 Article 148 of the Law on Enterprises.

13.3. Resolutions ratified by GMS, which are validated by 100% of the shareholders entitled
to vote, shall have immediate validity and effect despite procedural errors in the
ratification of such resolutions.

14. Method of objection to GMS resolutions:
14.1. Share repurchase at shareholders’ request:

a) The shareholders that have voted against the resolution on reorganization of the
company or change of shareholders’ rights and obligations in the company's charter
are entitled to request the company to repurchase their shares. The request shall be
made in writing and specify the shareholder’s name and address, quantity of shares
of each type, offered prices, reasons for requesting the repurchase. The request shall
be sent to the company within 10 days from the day on which the previously
mentioned resolution is ratified by the GMS.

b) The company shall repurchase shares at the request of its shareholders in
accordance with Clause 1 of this Article at market prices or at the prices calculated
in accordance with the rules in the company's charter within 90 days from the
receipt of the request. In case an agreement on the prices cannot be reached, the
parties may hire a valuation organization to determine the price. The company shall
introduce at least 03 valuation organizations for the shareholders to make the final
decision.

14.2. Requesting invalidation of a resolution of the GMS: Within ninety (90) days from the
date of receipt of the resolution or minutes of the GMS or the written record of voting
results of collecting written opinions of shareholders, shareholders or groups of
shareholders specified in Clause 2, Article 115 of the Law on Enterprises have the
right to request a Court or an arbitrator to consider and cancel decisions of the GMS in
the following cases:
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a) Procedures for convening the meeting or collecting written opinions of
shareholders and making decisions of the GMS are not conformable with the Law
on Enterprises and the Company Charter, except for the case specified in Clause 3
Article 21 of the Company Charter.

b) Contents of the Resolution contravene the law or the company’s charter.

15. Minutes of General meeting of shareholders:

15.1.

15.2.

The GMS must be recorded in writing, audio or other electronic means of recordings.
The meeting minutes must be made in Vietnamese (additional English is permitted)
and has the following information:

a) Name, headquarters address, number of the Enterprise Registration Certificate;
b) Time and location of the GMS;

c) Agenda and contents of the meeting;

d) Full names of the chairperson and the secretary;

e) Summary of the meeting and opinions given at the GMS with regard to each issue
on the agenda;

f) The number of shareholders and total number of votes of attending shareholders;
list of registered shareholders, representatives of shareholders with the
corresponding amount shares and votes;

g) Total votes on each issue in which specifying the voting method, numbers of valid
votes, invalid votes, affirmative votes, negative votes and abstentions;
corresponding ratio to total votes of attending shareholders;

h) Ratified issues and corresponding ratio of affirmative votes;

1) Signatures of the chairperson and the secretary; In case the chair or a secretary
refuses to sign the minutes, the minutes is still effective if it bears the signatures of
all other participating members of the Board of Directors and have adequate
information prescribed in this Clause. The minutes shall specify that the chair or
secretary refuses to sign it.

The minutes made in Vietnamese and English shall have equal legal effectiveness. In
case of any discrepancies between the Vietnamese version and the English version, the
Vietnamese version shall prevail.

The minutes of the GMS must be completed and ratified before the end of the meeting.
The chairperson and the secretary are jointly responsible for the truthfulness and
accuracy of the minutes.

16. The resolution of the GMS must be disclosed in accordance with the law on information

disclosure on the stock market and must be kept at the head office of the Company.

Article 7. Procedures for the GMS to ratify a resolution by collecting written opinions

1.

The cases are allowed and not allowed to get shareholders’ opinions in writing: The Board
of Directors has the right to collect shareholders' opinions in writing to ratify decisions of
the GMS whenever necessary for the interests of the Company, except for the following
cases:

a) Revisions to the company's charter;

b) Orientation for development of the company;

¢) Types of shares and quantity of each type;

d) Election and dismissal or members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board,;
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e) Investment or sale of assets that are worth at least 35% of the total assets written in the
latest financial statement, unless another ratio or value is specified in the company's
charter;

f) Ratification of the annual financial statement;
g) Reorganization or dissolution of the company.
2. Procedures for the GMS to ratify a resolution by collecting written opinions:

2.1. The Board of Directors must prepare the shareholders’ written opinion collecting form,
the draft resolution of the GMS and other documents explaining the draft resolution.
The Board of Directors must submit and publish documents to the shareholders within a
reasonable time for consideration and voting and must send them at least ten (10) days
before the expiration date of receipt of the shareholders’ written opinion collecting
form. The requirements and formalities for sending the form and attached documents
shall comply with Clause 2.4 of this Article.

2.2. The shareholders’ written opinion collecting form shall contain:
a) Name, head office address, number of the Enterprise Registration Certificate;
b) Purpose of collecting written opinions;

c) Full name, contact address, nationality, number of legal papers of individual for
individual shareholder; Name, business number or legal document number of the
organization, address of the head office for shareholders being the organization or
full name, contact address, nationality, number of legal papers of the individual for
with representatives of institutional shareholders; number of shares of each type and
number of votes of the shareholder;

d) Issues to be obtained opinions in order to pass the resolution;

e) Voting options including affirmative, negative, and abstentions on each issue;
f) Deadline for submitting the completed form to the company;

g) Full name and signature of the Chairman of the Board of Directors.

2.3. The shareholders’ written opinion collecting form must bear the signature of the
shareholder who is a natural person or the legal representative of the shareholder who is
an organization or an individual, the legal representative of the authorized organization.

2.4. The shareholders’ written opinion collecting form may be sent to the company in the
following manner:

a) By post: Every shareholder’s written opinion collecting form sent to the company
must be put into sealed envelope. Envelope must not be opened before counting;

b) By fax or email: The shareholders’ written opinion collecting forms sent by fax or
email must be kept confidential until the vote counting time.

C) The shareholders’ written opinion collecting forms sent to the company after the
deadline written therein, the shareholders’ written opinion collecting forms sent by
post in envelopes that are opened, the shareholders” written opinion collecting forms
sent by fax or email that are revealed before the voting time are all invalid. The
opinion form that is not returned is considered as a non-voting vote.

2.5. The Board of Directors counts votes and makes minutes of counting votes in the
presence of the Supervisory Board or shareholders who are not the executives of the
Company. The minutes of counting of votes must contain the following main details:

a) Name, head office address, number of the Enterprise Registration Certificate;
b) Purposes and issues that need voting to ratify the Resolution;
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2.6.

2.7.

2.8.

c) The number of shareholders and total number of votes casted, in which separate the
numbers of valid and invalid votes, methods of sending, enclosed with the list of
voting shareholders;

d) Total number of affirmative votes, negative votes and abstentions on each issue;
e) The ratified issues and the ratified voting rate respectively;

f) Full name and signature of the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the vote counter
and the vote counting supervisor.

Members of the Board of Directors, vote counters and vote counting supervisors are
jointly responsible for the truthfulness and the accuracy of the vote counting record;
jointly responsible for damages caused by the decisions ratified because of untruthful,
incorrect counts of votes.

The vote counting record and resolution shall be sent to all shareholders within 15
(fifteen) days from the completion date of vote counting. If the company has a website,
the vote counting record and resolution may be posted on such website instead of being
sent to shareholders within 24 hours from the completion time of vote counting.

Completed shareholders’ written opinion collecting forms, the vote counting record,
ratified Resolutions and relevant documents enclosed with shareholders’ written opinion
collecting forms shall be kept at the company’s headquarter.

Resolutions ratified in the form of collecting written opinions of shareholders must be
approved by a number of shareholders representing at least 50% of shares with voting
rights and are as valid as those ratified at the GMS, except for the contents specified in
Clause 13.2, Article 6 of this regulation.

Article 8. Order and procedures for the General Meeting of Shareholders to retify
resolutions through online meetings or through both face-to-face and online meetings

1.

Annual and extraordinary general meetings of shareholders may be held through online
meetings or both face-to-face and online meetings or in any other electronic form in the
event of (i) force majeure, including but not limited to: natural disasters, war, epidemics,
uprisings, riots, terrorism, State restrictions or bans; and/or (ii) other objective events that
the Board of Directors considers inconvenient and/or inappropriate to convene the General
Meeting of Shareholders in a normal manner.

In case the Board of Directors decides to convene the General Meeting of Shareholders in
the form specified in Clause 1 of this Article, the Board of Directors is responsible for
publishing and announcing on the Company's website the Regulations on organizing the
General Meeting of Shareholders no later than twenty-one (21) days before the meeting
date, including:

2.1.

2.2.

2.3.
2.4.

Instructions on the order and procedures for organizing the General Meeting of
Shareholders according to the form specified in Clause 1 of this Article.

Regulating electronic voting methods and other similar voting methods so that
shareholders can exercise their voting rights at the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Regulations on vote counting methods and announcement of vote counting results.

Provide other contents related to the convening of the General Meeting of Shareholders
in the form specified in Clause 1 of this Article.

CHAPTER IlI
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Article 9. Roles, rights and obligations of the Board of Directors

1.

The Board of Directors is the managerial body of the company and has the right to make
decisions on behalf of the company, perform rights and obligations of the company, except
the rights and obligations of the GMS.

Rights and obligations of the Board of Directors are regulated by law provisions, the
company’s charter and the GMS. The Board of Directors has the following rights and
obligations as follows:

a) Make decisions on strategies, mid-term development plans and annual business plans of
the company;

b) Propose types of shares and total number of shares to be offered for each type;

c) Decide sale of certain types of unsold authorized shares; decide other methods of raising
capital;
d) Determine the offering price of shares and bonds if authorized by the GMS;

e) Decide repurchase of shares as prescribed in Clause 1 and Clause 2 Article 133 of the
Law on enterprises;

f) Decide the investment plan and investment projects within its jurisdictions and
limitations prescribed by law;

g) Decide solutions for market development, marketing and technology;

h) Approve sale contracts, purchase contracts, borrowing contracts, lending contracts, other
contracts and transactions that are worth at least 35% of the total assets recorded in the
latest financial statement; contracts and transactions within the jurisdiction of the General
Meeting of Shareholders as prescribed in Point d Clause 2 Article 138, Clause 1 and
Clause 3 Article 167 of this Law on Enterprises;

i) Elect, dismiss the chairman of the Board of Directors; designate, dismiss, enter into and
terminate contracts with the Director and other key executives; decide salaries,
remunerations, bonuses and other benefits of these executives; designate authorized
representatives to participate in the Board of Members or the general meeting of
shareholders of another company; decide their remunerations and other benefits;

J) Supervise the Director and other executives managing the company’s everyday business;

K) Decide the company’s organizational structure, internal rules and regulations;
establishment of subsidiary companies, branches and representative offices; contribution
of capital to and purchase of shares of other enterprises;

I) Approve the agenda and documents of the GMS; convene the GMS or carry out surveys
for the GMS to ratify its resolutions;

m)Submit annual financial statements to the GMS;

n) Propose the dividends; decide the time and procedures for paying dividends or settling
business losses;

0) Propose reorganization or dissolution of the bankruptcy; file bankruptcy of the company;

p) Decide to promulgate the operating regulations of the Board of Directors, internal
regulations on corporate governance after being approved by GMS; Regulations on
information disclosure of the Company;

g) Other rights and obligations in accordance with the Law on Enterprises, the Law on
Securities, other provisions of law and the company's charter.
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The Board of Directors approves resolutions and decisions by voting at the meeting, and
collecting opinions in writing or in other forms prescribed by the company's charter. Each
member of the Board of Directors has one vote.

In case a resolution or decision is ratified by the Board of Directors against regulations of
law or a resolution of the GMS or the company’s charter and causes damage to the
company, the members that vote for the ratification of such resolution or decision shall be
jointly responsible for it and pay compensation for the company; the members that vote
against such resolution or decision shall not be held responsible. In this case, the company’s
shareholders are entitled to request the court to suspend or invalidate the resolution or
decision.

Article 10. Responsibilities of the Board of Directors

1.

Members of the Board of Directors have full rights under the provisions of the Securities
Law, relevant laws and the company's charter, including the right to be provided with
information and documents on financial and business situation of the Company and of the
functional departments in the Company.

Members of the Board of Directors have obligations as prescribed in the company's charter
and the following obligations:

a) Perform his/ her duties honestly and prudently for the best interests of shareholders and
the Company;

b) Participate in all meetings of the Board of Directors and give comments on discussed
ISSues;

c) Timely and fully report to the Board of Directors remuneration received from
subsidiaries, affiliates and other organizations;

d) Report to the Board of Directors at the latest meeting about transactions between the
Company, subsidiaries, other companies controlled by the Company with over 50% of
the charter capital with members of the Board of Directors and other related persons of
those members; transactions between the Company and a company in which a member of
the Board of Directors is a founding member or manager during the last 3 years prior to
the transaction time;

e) Disclose information when trading shares of the Company in accordance with the laws.
Rights to information of members of the Board of Members

a) Members of the Board of Directors are entitled to request the Director, Deputy Director
and other executives of the company to provide information and documents about the
finance and business performance of the company and its units.

b) The requested executives shall provide information and documents fully and accurately
as requested by the members. The procedures for requesting and providing information
shall be specified in the company's charter.

Article 11. Nomination, self-nomination, dismissal, replacement and addition of members
of the Board of Directors

1.

Office term and numbers of the Board of Directors’ members:

a) The Board of Directors has 05 members. The office term of the Board of Directors’
members shall not exceed five (5) years. Members of the Board of Directors may be re-
elected with an unlimited number of terms.

b) In case all members of the Board of Directors terminate their office terms at the same
time, such members will continue to be members of the Board of Directors until new
members are elected to replace and take over the work.
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2. Structure, standards and conditions of the members of the Board of Directors:

2.1.

2.2.

The structure of the Board of Directors: The total number of non-executive members of
the Board of Directors must comprise at least one third (1/3) of the total members of the
Board of Directors. The minimum number of non-executive members of the Board of
Directors shall be determined by the method of rounding down.

Standards and conditions of the members of the Board of Directors:

a) He/she is not one of the persons specified in Clause 2 Article 17 of the Law on
Enterprises;

b) He/she has professional qualifications and experience of business administration or
in the company’s business lines and is not necessarily a shareholder of the company;

c) A member of the Board of Directors of the Company may concurrently be a member
of the Board of Directors of another company;

d) Other standards and conditions as prescribed by the Company Charter.

3.  Nomination, self-nomination to the members of the Board of Directors:

3.1.

3.2.

3.3.

If the candidate for the Board of Directors has been identified, the Company must
disclose information related to the candidates at least 10 days before the opening date of
the General Meeting of Shareholders on the website of the Company so that
shareholders can find out about these candidates before voting. Candidates for the
Board of Directors must have a written commitment to the truthfulness and accuracy of
the published personal information and must commit to performing the tasks honestly,
carefully and for the highest benefits of the Company if elected as a member of the
Board of Directors. Information about the candidates to the Board of Directors is
published including:

a) Full name, birthday;

b) Education qualifications;

c) Professional qualifications;

d) Work experience;

e) Companies of which they are the members of the Board of Directors and other
managing positions;

f) Assessment reports on their contributions to the company if they are currently
members of the Board of Directors of the company;

g) Interests related to the company (if any);

h) Full names of the shareholders or groups of shareholders nominating them (if any);

1) Other information (if any).

Shareholders holding ordinary shares shall be entitled to aggregate the number of voting
rights of each such shareholder to nominate candidates to be selected to the Board of
Directors. The shareholders or groups of shareholders holding at least 10% of the total
number of shares with voting rights may nominate one (01) candidate, from 10% to less
than 30% may nominate up to two (02) candidates, from 30% to less than 50% may
nominate three (03) candidates, from 50% to less than 70% may nominate four (04)
candidates; from 70% may nominate up to sufficient candidates.

Where the number of candidates nominated by the Board of Directors and self-
nominated fails to reach the number as needed, the incumbent Board of Directors may
nominate additional candidates or organize the nomination in accordance with the
mechanism specified in the internal regulations on corporate governance of the
company. The introduction of candidates by the Board of Directors must be published
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clearly and must be approved by the GMS prior to the nomination according to law
provisions.

3.4. Members of the Board of Directors must satisfy the requirements and conditions
specified in Clauses 2.2 of this Article.

4. Methods of election of members of the Board of Directors: Voting to elect members of the
Board of Directors shall be done by the method of cumulative voting, in which each
shareholder has the total number of votes corresponding to the total number of shares owned
multiplied by the number of members elected by the Board of Directors. Shareholders have
the right to put all or part of their total votes for one or several candidates. The elected
members of the Board of Directors are determined by the number of votes from high to low,
starting from the candidate with the highest number of votes until the number of members
specified in the company's charter is met. In case two or more candidates achieve the same
number of votes for the last member of the Board of Directors, re-election will be conducted
among the candidates with the same number of votes or selected according to the criteria
prescribed in the election regulations or company charter.

5. Methods of dismissal, removal and addition of members of the Board of Directors:

5.1. The GMS shall dismiss a member of the Board of Directors from office in the following
cases:

a) He/she does not fully satisfy the requirements specified in Clause 2 of this Article;
b) He/she hands in a resignation and is accepted,
c) Other cases prescribed by the company's charter.

5.2. The GMS shall dismiss a member of the Board of Directors in the following cases:

a) He/she fails to participate in activities of the Board of Directors for 06 consecutive
months, except in force majeure events;

b) Other cases prescribed by the company's charter.

5.3. Where necessary, the GMS shall replace members of the Board of Directors; dismiss
members of the Board of Directors in cases other than those specified above.

5.4. The Board of Directors shall convene the GMS to elect additional members of Board of
Directors in the following cases:

a) The number of members of the Board of Directors decreases by more than one third
of the number specified in the company's charter. The Board of Directors shall
convene the GMS within 60 days from that day;

b) Except the cases specified in Point a of this Clause, the nearest GMS shall elect new
members to replace the dismissed member.

6. The announcement of the results of election, dismissal, and removal of members of the
Board of Directors shall comply with regulations on securities and securities market.

7. Election, dismissal and removal from office the Chairman of the Board of Directors:

7.1. The Board of Directors shall elect one of its members chairman of the Board of
Directors; dismiss its chairman. The chairman of the Board of Directors must not
concurrently hold the position of Director.

7.2. In case the Chairman of the Board of Directors resigns or is dismissed, the Board of
Directors must elect a replacement within ten (10) days.

7.3. In case the chairman of the Board of Directors is not present or not able to perform his
tasks, he/she shall authorize another member in writing to perform the rights and
obligations of the chairman of the Board of Directors. In case no member is authorized
or the chairman is dead, missing, detained, serving an imprisonment sentence, serving
an administrative penalty in a correctional institution or rehabilitation center, making a
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getaway; has limited legal capacity or is incapacitated, has difficulty controlling his/her
behavior, is prohibited by the court from holding certain positions or doing certain
works, one of the Board of Directors shall convene a meeting with the remaining
members to elect one of them as the interim chairman under the majority rule until a
new decision is issued by the Board of Directors.

Article 12. Remunerations, and other benefits of members of the Board of Directors

1.

The company is entitled to pay remunerations and bonuses to members of the Board of
Directors according to the company’s business performance.

Members of the Board of Directors shall receive remunerations and bonuses. The
remuneration is based on the number of days necessary to fulfill the member’s duties and the
daily pay. The Board of Directors shall estimate the remuneration of each member by
consensus. The total remunerations and bonuses of the Board of Directors shall be decided
by the annual GMS.

Remunerations of members of the Board of Directors shall be recorded as the company’s
expenses in accordance with regulations of law on corporate income tax in a separate section
of the company’s consolidated financial statement and shall be reported at the annual GMS.

Members of the Board of Directors holding executive positions or members of the Board of
Directors working at sub-committees of the Board of Directors or performing other works
outside the duties of a member of the Board of Directors may be paid additional
remuneration in the form of a lump-sum remuneration, salary, commission, percentage of
profit or in other forms as decided by the Board of Directors.

Members of the Board of Directors have the right to be reimbursed for all travel, meals,
accommodation and other reasonable expenses they have to pay when performing their
responsibilities as members of the Board of Directors, including costs incurred in attending
meetings of the GMS, the Board of Directors or sub-committees of the Board of Directors.

A member of the Board of Directors can be purchased by the Company for liability
insurance after obtaining approval from the GMS. This insurance does not include insurance
for the responsibilities of the members of the Board of Directors related to the violation of
the law and the company's Charter.

Article 13. Procedures to hold the meetings of the Board of Directors

1.

Minimum number of meetings: the chairman can convene a meeting whenever necessary,
but shall be held at least quarterly

Cases that must convene extraordinary meetings of the Board of Directors
a) It is requested by the Supervisory Board,;

b) It is requested by the Director or at least 05 other executives;

c) Itis requested by at least 02 members of the Board of Directors;

d) If there is a request from the independent audit company to audit the financial statements
of the Company, the Chairman of the Board of Directors must convene a meeting of the
Board of Directors to discuss the audit report and the situation of the Company;

e) Other cases specified in the Company charter.

Invitations to the meeting of the Board of Directors must be sent to the members of the
Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board at least three (03) working days before the
meeting, the members of the Board of Directors may deny the invitation in writing and this
refusal may be changed or cancelled in writing by such member. Invitations to the meeting
of the Board of Directors shall be made in Vietnamese and fully informed of the agenda,
time and location of the meeting, contents of the discussed issues, together with the
necessary documents on the matters to be discussed and voted on at the meeting of the
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Board of Directors and voting card of each member. The invitation shall be sent by post, fax,
email, or other means, as long as they reach the mailing address of every member of the
Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board, which is registered with the company.

4. The right to attend the meeting of the Board of Directors of the members of the Supervisory
Board: The Supervisory Board has the right to attend and discuss at the meetings of the
Board of Directors.

5. Conditions to hold the meeting of the Board of Directors:

5.1.

5.2.

The meeting of the Board of Directors shall be opened when it is participated in by three
fourths (3/4) of the members. In case the number of participating members is not
adequate, the second meeting shall be convened within 07 days from the intended date
of the first meeting. The second meeting shall be opened when it is participated in by
more than half of the members of the Board of Directors.

It is considered that a member of the Board of Directors has participated in and voted at
a meeting when he/she:

a) Participate and vote in person at the meeting;

b) Authorizes another person to participate in the meeting and vote in accordance with
Clause 11 of this Article;

c) Participate and vote at online meeting; cast electronic votes or in other electronic
forms;

d) Send votes by mail, fax or email.

Meeting of the Board of Directors can be held in the form of online conference between
members of the Board of Directors when all or some of the members are in different
locations, provided that each member attending the meeting can:

a) Listen to each member of the Board of Directors to express their opinions in the
meeting;

b) Express their opinions with all participants simultaneously. The discussion among
members can be carried out directly by telephone or by other means of
communication or the combination of all these methods. The members of the Board
of Directors participating in such meeting are considered as "present" at the meeting.
The meeting location is held in accordance with this regulation is the location where
the group of the largest members of the Board of Directors gathers, or where the
Chairperson of the meeting is present.

The decisions ratified in a meeting through telephone are held and conducted properly
and effectively right at the end of the meeting, but must be confirmed by the signatures
in the minutes of all members of the Board of Directors attending this meeting.

6. Voting method:

6.1.

6.2.

6.3.

6.4.

The Board of Directors approves the decision by voting at the meeting or collecting
opinions in writing;

The members of the Board of Directors may send votes to the meeting via mails, fax or
e-mails. Votes sent to the meeting by post must be contained in sealed envelopes and
given to the Chairman of the Board of Directors at least one hour before the opening
time. Votes shall be open under the witness of all participants;

The members shall participate in all meetings of the Board of Directors. A member may
authorize another person to participate in the meeting and vote if it is approved by the
majority of the members of the Board of Directors.

Except for cases specified in Point 6.5 Clause 6 of this Article, each member of the
Board of Directors or the authorized representative as specified in Clause 8 of this
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Article directly presents as a natural person at the meeting of the Board of Directors
shall have one (01) vote;

6.5. The members of the Board of Directors are not entitled to vote on contracts, transactions
or proposals of which such members or persons related to such members receive
benefits and these benefits conflict or could conflict with the interests of the Company.
The Board of Directors’ members are not included in the minimum number of delegates
needed to be present to hold the Board of Directors meeting on the decisions which such
members do not have voting rights on;

6.6. As prescribed at Point 6.6 of this Clause, when issues arise in a meeting of the Board of
Directors relating to the interests of the members of the Board of Directors but such
members do not voluntarily waive their voting rights of, the judgment of the Chairman
regarding these issues is the final decision except where the nature or scope of the
interests of members of the Board concerned has not been fully published;

6.7. The members of the Board of Directors enjoying benefits from a contract specified in
Points a and b, Clause 6, Article 40 of the Company Charter are considered to receive
significant benefits in such contract;

6.8. The Chairman of the Board of Directors or the convener shall send meeting invitations
and accompanying documents to members of the Supervisory Board same as to
members of the Board of Directors. Members of the Supervisory Board are entitled to
attend meetings of the Board of Directors, participate in discussion but must not cast
votes;

6.9. The members of the Board of Directors directly or indirectly enjoy benefit from a
transaction or contract signed or expected to be signed with the company and know that
they receive such benefits shall publish such benefits in the first meeting in which the
Board of Directors considers the issue of signing of this contract or transaction. If a
member of the Board of Directors does not know himself/herself and the person
concerned receive interests at the time the contract or transaction is signed with the
company, this member of the Board of Directors must disclose relevant interests in the
first meeting of the Board of Directors held after this member knows that he/she
receives the interests or will receive interests in the abovementioned transaction or
contract.

7. Method of ratification of resolutions of the Board of Directors:

7.1.The Board of Directors approves decisions and issues resolutions on the basis of
consent of the majority of the members of the Board of Directors attending the meeting.
If the number of votes for and against is equal, the vote of the Chairman of the Board of
Directors is the decisive vote.

7.2. Resolution in the form of collecting written opinions is ratified on the basis of the
consent of the majority of members of the Board of Directors who have voting rights.
This resolution is as effective and valid as the resolution ratified at the meeting.

8. Authorization of another person to attend a meeting of a member of the Board of Directors:
if a member of the Board of Directors cannot attend a meeting of the Board of Directors, he/
she has the right to authorize another person to attend and vote at the meeting if accepted by
a majority of the members of the Board of Directors.

9. Minutes of meetings of the Board of Directors:

9.1. The minutes of all meetings of the Board of Directors shall be taken. Audio recordings
and other electronic forms are optional. The minutes shall be written in Vietnamese
language, may be translated into foreign languages, and shall contain the following
information:
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10.

9.2.

9.3.

9.4.
9.5.

Noti

a) The company’s name, EID number, headquarter address;
b) Time and location of the meeting;
c) Purposes and agenda of the meeting;

d) Full names of participating members and the persons authorized to participate in the
meeting and how they participate; full names of non-participating members and their
excuses;

e) The issues to be discussed and voted on at the meeting;
f) Summary of comments of each participating member in chronological order;

g) Voting result, the members that cast affirmative votes, negative votes and
abstentions;

h) Ratified decisions and corresponding ratio of affirmative votes;

i) Full names, signatures of the chairman and the minute taker, except for the case in
Clause 2 of this Article.

In case the chairman and the minute taker refuse to sign the minutes, they will be
effective if they are signed by all of the other members of the Board of Directors and
contain all the information prescribed in Points a, b, c, d, e, f and h of point 9.1, Clause
9 of this Article.

The chairman, the minute taker and the persons who sign the minutes shall be
responsible for its accuracy and truthfulness.

The minutes and meeting documents shall be retained at the company’s headquarters.

The Vietnamese and foreign language copies of the minutes have the same legal value.
In case of any discrepancy between them, the Vietnamese copy shall prevail.

ce of resolutions and decisions of the Board of Directors:

10.1. The Chairman of the Board of Directors shall transfer the minutes of the Board of

10.2.

10.3.

Directors’ meeting to the members and the minutes of meeting is the true evidence of
work that has been carried out in the meetings except there are objections on the
content of the minutes of meeting within ten (10) days after transfer. The minutes of
the Board of Directors’ meetings shall be made in Vietnamese and may be made in
English. The minutes of the meeting must be signed by the chairman and the secretary.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors is responsible for sending the resolutions of
the Board of Directors to the members of the Board of Directors, the Director of the
Company, the Supervisory Board by posting or email/fax to the registered addresses of
the members within a period of three (03) working days from the date of issuance of
the Resolutions.

In case the Resolution of the Board of Directors contains a number of contents
required to be disclosed in accordance with the regulations, the Chairman of the Board
of Directors is responsible for sending the Resolution to the person responsible for
disclosing information of the Company to make the announcement of information as
prescribed.

Article 14. Teams affiliated to the Board of Directors

1.

The Board of Directors may establish teams to assist it on development policy, personnel,
salary and internal audit. The number of members of the team shall be decided by the Board
of Directors, but there should be at least three (03) persons including members of the Board
of Directors and external members. Non-executive members of the Board of Directors
should occupy a majority in the team and one of these members shall be appointed as the
head of the team under the decision of the Board of Directors. The activities of the teams
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must comply with the regulations of the Board of Directors. Resolutions of the teams are
effective only when a majority of the members attending and approving them at the meeting
of the team are members of the Board of Directors.

2. The implementation of the decision of the Board of Directors or teams affiliated to the
Board of Directors, or of the person having member status in the teams affiliated to the
Board of Directors must comply with effective provisions of law and the company’s charter.

CHAPTER IV
PERSONS IN CHARGE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Article 15. Standards of persons in charge of corporate governance

1. The Board of Directors of the Company must appoint at least 01 person in charge of
corporate governance to support corporate governance at the Company. The person in
charge of corporate governance can concurrently act as the company secretary according to
the provisions of Clause 5, Article 156 of the Law on Enterprises.

2. The person in charge of corporate governance shall:
a) be knowledge about laws;

b) not work for the independent audit firm performing audits of the company’s financial
statements;

c) Other standards as prescribed by the law, the Company Charter and the decisions of the
Board of Director.

Article 16. Appointment of a person in charge of corporate governance

The Board of Directors issued a decision to appoint a person in charge of corporate governance.
Remuneration and other benefits of the person in charge of corporate governance are decided by
the Board of Directors.

Article 17. Dismissal of the person in charge of corporate governance

The Board of Directors can dismiss the person in charge of corporate governance if necessary,
but not contrary to the current labor laws. The Board of Directors can appoint the assistant to the
person in charge of corporate governance from time to time.

Article 18. Notice of appointment and dismissal of the person in charge of corporate
governance

The Board of Directors must notify the appointment and dismissal of the person in charge of
corporate governance to the Director and other executives.

Article 19. Rights and Obligations of the Person in charge of corporate governance

1. Provide consultancy for the Board of Directors in organizing the GMS and performance of
relevant tasks between the Company and its shareholders;

2. Prepare meetings of the Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board and the GMS at the
request of the Board of Directors or the Supervisory Board;

3. Provide consultancy on meeting procedures;
Participate in the meetings;

5. Provide consultancy on procedures for lawful issuance of resolutions of the Board of
Directors;
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10.

Provide financial information, copies of meeting minutes of the Board of Directors and other
information for members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board;

Monitor and report to the Board of Directors on the operation of publishing information of
the company;

Assist in contact between parties with relevant interests;
Protect confidentiality of in accordance with regulations of law and the Company’s Charter;

Other rights and obligations in accordance with regulations of laws and the company’s
charter.

CHAPTER V
THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

Article 20. Rights and obligations of the Supervisory Board, responsibilities of members of
the Supervisory Board

1.

The Supervisory Board has the rights and obligations prescribed in Article 170 of the Law
on Enterprises and the following rights and obligations:

a) Propose and recommend the GMS to grant approval for the independent audit firm to
audit the financial statements of the company;

b) Assume their accountabilities to shareholders for monitoring activities;

¢) Monitor the financial status of the company, legitimacy of the activities of members of
the Board of Directors, the Director, other managers, the coordination between the
Supervisory Board and the Board of Directors, Director and Shareholders;

d) Promptly submit a written notification to the Board of Directors within 48 hours
whenever a member of the Board of Directors, the Director is found to be violating the
laws and the Company Charter , request the violator to stop the violations and implement
remedial measures;

e) Report at the GMS in accordance with the Law on Enterprises;

f) Draw up the operating regulations of the Supervisory Board and submit to the GMS for
approval,

g) Reporting at the GMS in accordance with Article 290 of the Government's Decree No.
155/2020/ND-CP dated December 31, 2020 detailing the implementation of a number of
articles of the Law on Securities;

h) Be entitled to access the company’s documents at the headquarters, branches and other
locations; enter the executives’ and employees’ workplace during working hours;

1) Have the right to request the Board of Directors, members of the Board of Directors,
Director and other managers to fully, accurately and promptly provide information and
documents on management activities. operations and business activities of the Company;

j) Other rights and obligations prescribed in the relevant laws and the Company Charter.

The Board of Directors, members of the Board of Directors, the Director and other
executives shall fully and promptly provide information and documents about the
company’s administration as requested by the Supervisory Board. The person in charge of
corporate governance must ensure that all copies of resolutions, meeting minutes of the
GMS and of the Board of Directors, financial information, other information and documents
provided to shareholders and members of the Board of Directors must be provided to the
Supervisors at the same time and in the same manner as to shareholders and members of the
Board of Directors.
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The Supervisory Board may promulgate regulations on the meeting of the Supervisory
Board and how it operates. The Supervisory Board must hold the meetings at least twice a
year and the meeting is conducted when there are two-thirds (2/3) or more of the members
of the Supervisory Board.

Salaries, remunerations and other benefits of the members of the Supervisory Board shall be
decided by the GMS. Members of the Supervisory Board are entitled to reasonable payment
of accommodation, travel and other expenses incurred when they attend meetings of the
Supervisory Board or perform other activities of the Supervisory Board. Salaries and
operating costs of the Supervisory Board shall be recorded as the Company’s operating costs
in accordance with regulations of law on corporate income tax, presented in a separate
section of the Company’s annual financial statement.

Article 21. Office term, numbers, structure of members of the Supervisory Board

1.

Term of office, number, composition, structure of the members of the Supervisory Board:
The number of members of the Supervisory Board of the Company is three (03) people. The
office term of a member of the Supervisory Board does not exceed five (05) years and may
be re-elected for an unlimited number of terms. Members of the Supervisory Board shall
elect one of them to be the Head of the Supervisory Board according to the majority rule.
Head of the Supervisory Board must be a professional auditor or accountant and shall work
full-time at the Company.

Standards and conditions for members of the Supervisory Board: A member of the
Supervisory Board must satisfy the standards and conditions specified in Article 169 of the
Law on Enterprises and shall not:

a) work in the Finance - Accounting department of the Company;

b) work for the independent audit firm performing audits of the company’s financial
statements in three consecutive years.

Nomination and self-nomination for members of the Supervisory Board:

a) Nomination and self-nomination for members of the Supervisory Board shall be carried
out similarly to those specified in Clause 3, Article 11 of this Regulation.

b) Where the number of candidates for the Supervisory Board through nomination and self-
nomination fails to reach the number as needed, the incumbent Supervisory Board may
nominate additional candidates or organize the nomination in accordance with the
mechanism specified in the charter and the internal regulations on corporate governance
of the company. The mechanism of nomination of candidates by the Supervisory Board
must be published clearly and must be approved by the GMS prior to the nomination.

c) Members of the Supervisory Board must satisfy the standards and conditions specified in
Clause 2 of this Article.

Method of electing members of the Supervisory Board shall be implemented the same as the
method prescribed in Clause 4, Article 11 of this Regulation.

Dismissal, removal of members of the Supervisory Board

5.1. The member of the Supervisory Board shall be dimissed from the office in the
following cases:

a) He/she does not meet standards and conditions as prescribed in the Law on
Enterprises;

b) He/she hands in a resignation and is accepted,
c) Other cases as prescribed by the laws and the Company Charter.

5.2. The member of the Supervisory Board shall be removed from the office in the
following cases:
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a) He/she fails to fulfill the given tasks or duties;

d) He/she fails to exercise his/her rights and obligations in 06 consecutive months,
except in force majeure events;

b) He/she commits serious or repeated violations against obligations of supervisors
prescribed by the Law on enterprises and the company’s charter;

c) He/she is removed by decisions of the GMS;
d) Other cases as prescribed by the law and the Company Charter.

6. Notice of election, dismissal and removal of members of the Supervisory Board shall be
similar to Clause 6 Article 11 of this Regulation.

CHAPTER VI
THE DIRECTOR

Article 22. Roles, responsibilities, rights and obligations of the Director

1. The director runs the company's day-to-day business; subject to the supervision of the Board
of Directors; takes responsibility before the Board of Directors and law for the performance
of assigned rights and obligations.

2. The Director shall have the following rights and obligations:

a) Implement the resolutions of the Board of Directors and the GMS, business and finance
plans and investment plans of the company approved by the Board of Directors and by
the GMS;

b) Make decisions on issues which are not under the authority of the Board of Directors,
including signing of economic contracts, financial and commercial transactions on behalf
of the company, organization and direction of daily business activities of the company in
accordance with the best management practices; Report monthly, quarterly and annually
to the Board of Directors and submit to the Board of Directors for posting reports on the
company's website and at the request of the State Securities Commission;

c) Propose corporate structuring plans and internal management regulations to the Board of
Directors; Propose the number and types of executives that the company needs to recruit
for the appointment or dismissal by the Board of Directors in accordance with each stage
and propose salary rate, remuneration and other benefits of the executives to the Board of
Directors to make decisions;

d) Recruit, sign labor contracts, decide wages and allowances (if any) for employees,
managers under the authority of the Director

e) Consult the Board of Directors on decision on the number of employees, salary rates,
allowances, benefits, appointment, dismissal and other terms related to their labor
contracts;

f) Submit the detailed business plan for the next fiscal year on the basis of meeting the
requirements of the appropriate budget as well as the yearly financial plan to the Board of
Directors for approval;

g) Propose measures to improve business operations and management of the Company;

h) Perform all other activities in accordance with this Charter and the Company's
regulations, resolutions of the Board of Directors and the laws.

3. The Director shall manage the company’s everyday business in accordance with law, the
company’s charter, his/her employment contract with the company, resolutions and
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decisions of the Board of Directors. Otherwise, the Director shall be legally responsible for
and pay damages to the company.

Article 23. Appointment, dismissal, signing and termination of labor contract with the
Director

1. Office term, standards and conditions of the Director:

1.1 The term of the Director does not exceed 05 years and may be re-appointed for an
unlimited number of terms.

1.2 Standards and conditions of the Director:
a) Have full legal capacity and not be prohibited from managing an enterprise;

b) Not concurrently be the Director or General Director of another organization or
enterprise;

c) Have professional qualifications and experience in the business administration of the
company;

d) Other standards and conditions in accordance with the law and the Company Charter.
2. Appointment, signing labor contract with the Director

2.1. The Board of Directors appoints a member of the Board of Directors or hires another
person to be the Director. The appointment will be reflected in a written decision of the
Board of Directors.

2.2. The Chairman of the Board of Directors signs on behalf of the Board of Directors a
labor contract with the Director of the company. Remuneration, salary, benefits and
other terms in the employment contract for the Director are decided by the Board of
Directors.

3. Dismissal, termination of the labor contract with Director:

3.1. Dimissal:
a) At the request of business needs, human resource transfer and rotation;
b) His/her labor contract expires;
c) He/she retires and does not want to extend/ re-sign his/ her labor contract;
d) He/she hands in the resignation.

3.2. Removal:
a) He/she fails to complete duties or violates the Company's rules and regulations;

b) He/she violates the law to the extent of being prosecuted for criminal liability or no
longer meets the standards and conditions to continue to hold the position of
Director.

3.3. The Board of Directors holds a meeting to approve the dismissal or removal of the
Director of the company. The dismissal or removal shall be reflected in the resolution of
the Board of Directors.

4. Notice of appointment, dismissal, signing or termination of labor contract with the Director
shal be in compliance with the law on information disclosure.

CHAPTER VII
OTHER ACTIVITIES

Article 24. Coordination between the Board of Directors, Supervisory Board and Director
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1. Procedures for convening, announcing meeting invitations, recording minutes and
announcing meeting results between the Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board and the
Director shall comply with this Regulation.

2. Notification of resolutions and decisions of the Board of Directors to the Supervisory Board
shall comply with Clause 11, Article 12 and Clause 2, Article 19 of this Regulation.

3. Notification of resolutions and decisions of the Board of Directors to the Director shall
comply with Clause 11, Article 12 of this Regulation.

4. The Director and the Supervisory Board propose to convene a meeting of the Board of
Directors and the issues that need to be consulted from the Board of Directors shall comply
with the Company Charter.

5. Report of the Director to the Board of Directors on the performance of assigned tasks and
rights:

5.1. The Director is responsible for promptly reporting and consulting the Board of
Directors on the arising issues under the decisive authority of the Board of Directors

5.2. In the regular quarterly meetings of the Board of Directors, the Director is responsible
for reporting to the Board of Directors on business results, other activities and business
plans of the next period, proposals (if any).

5.3. Periodically in the fourth quarter of each year, the Director submits to the Board of
Directors for approval of the detailed business plan for the next fiscal year.

5.4. Other ad hoc reports as requested by the Board of Directors.

5.5. Reports and written requests for opinions of the Board of Directors can be sent to the
Board of Directors in the form of registered mail or email/ fax.

6. Reviewing the implementation of resolutions and other authorized issues of the Board of
Directors by the Director: Annually, the Board of Directors reviews the implementation of
the resolutions and other issues authorized by the Board of Directors to the Director of the
Company and is recorded in the report on the activities of the Board of Directors.

7. The Director shall make reports and provide information to the Board of Directors, the
Supervisory Board in accordance with the Company Charter and these Regulations.

8. Coordination in control, administration and supervision between members of the Board of
Directors, members of the Supervisory Board and the Director shall be carried out according
to the specific duties of the members as mentioned above.

8.1. The Board of Directors, Director and other executives are subject to the supervision of
the Supervisory Board in accordance with law, the Company Charter and must create
favorable conditions for the Supervisory Board to perform its duties.

8.2. The Board of Directors and the Director are responsible for reporting to the Supervisory
Board on issues as required by the Supervisory Board in accordance with the law and
the Company Charter.

8.3. The Supervisory Board must notify the Board of Directors about the results of
implementing its functions and duties, consult the Board of Directors before submitting
reports, results and recommendations to the GMS.

8.4. The Supervisory Board shall retain notices of disclosing the interests of the executives
of the Company to supervise their economic and civil transactions with related persons
in accordance with the provisions of law and the Company Charter; prevent damages
that may occur to the Company and shareholders of the Company; receive complaints
from shareholders related to the management and administration of the Company;
organize verification of complaints and respond to complaints of shareholders in
accordance with the law and the Company Charter.
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8.5. The Director is responsible for reporting and explaining matters under his/her authority
at the request of members of the Board of Directors, Supervisory Board at the meeting.

8.6. The Board of Directors can suspend or cancel the implementation of the decisions of the
Director if these decisions are not in accordance with the law, violate the Company
Charter, Resolutions and Decisions of the Board of Directors.

8.7. For resolutions and decisions of the Board of Directors, if the Director and other
executives find it inappropriate, they have the right to reserve their opinions in writing
but still have the responsibility to implement. Written opinion is considered to be
exempt from liability for damages arising (if any).

Article 25. Regulations on assessment, reward and discipline for members of the Board of
Directors, the Supervisory Board, and the Management Board

1.

The Board of Directors submits the report on assessment of reward and discipline for
members of the Board of Directors, the Board of Management, and the Supervisory Board at
the GMS for consideration and decision.

The Director considers and decides the reward and discipline for other executives.

CHAPTER VI
IMPLEMENTATION

Article 26. Amendment to the internal regulations of corporate governance

Amendment and supplementation of these internal regulations on corporate governance are
proposed by the Board of Directors and submitted to the GMS for approval.

Article 27. Implementation validity

1.

The internal regulations on corporate governance of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock
Company include 8 chapters and 27 articles, approved by the GMS on April 4, 2025 at Sai
Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company and mutually agree to the full text of this
Regulation.

The internal regulations on corporate governance of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock
Company are unique and official.

Copies or extracts of this internal regulations on corporate governance shall be valid when
signed by the Chairman of the Board of Directors or at least half (1/2) of the total members
of the Board of Directors.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
OF DIRECTORS
Chairman

Koo Liang Kwee
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SAIGON - QUANG NGAI BEER JOINT STOCK COMPANY
Address: Quang Phu 1Z, Quang Ngai City, Quang Ngai Province
Tel: +84.255.6250905; 6250906 Fax: +84.255.6250910

; Email: beer@sabecoquangngai.com.vn;Website: www.sabecogquangngai.com.vn
SABECO Business Licence no.: 4300338460 issued by Quang Ngai Province P&l Dept. on 04/12/2024

Quang Ngai, April 04, 2025
DRAFT

MINUTES

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 2025
OF SAI GON - QUANG NGAI BEER JOINT STOCK COMPANY

Name of company: Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company

Address of Head Office: Quang Phu Industrial Zone, Quang Ngai City,
Quang Ngai Province

Certificate of enterprise registration no.: 4300338460
Time: 09h00, April 04, 2025

Venue: Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company,
Quang Phu Industrial Zone, Quang Ngai city, Quang
Ngai Province

PART I: INTRODUCTION ON OPENING CEREMONY
I. Participants

1. The total number of shareholders and authorized representatives attended the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders 2025 (AGM) was ... persons, represented ...... shares, equivalent to
...... % of voting shares.

2. Delegates and guests attending the AGM:
The Board of Directors (BOD)

- Mr. Koo Liang Kwee - Chairman.

- Mrs. Bui Thi Nhu - BOD member, Director.
- Mr. Tran Nguyen Trung - BOD member.

- Mr. Van Thao Nguyen - BOD member.

- Mr. Dinh Van Thanh - BOD member.

The Supervisory Board (“BOS”).

- Mr. Nguyen Van Hoa - BOS Head.

- Mrs. Huynh Thi Thuy Nhan - BOS member.

- Mrs. Do Thi Diem Kieu - BOS member.

Managers of the Company.

I1. Report on the results of shareholders’ eligibility examination
Shareholders’ Eligibility Examination Committee:

Mr. Thuong Tan Luc - Manager - Utilities - Head.
Mr. Thuong Dinh Hoc - Associate - Equipment & Process Assurance - Member.
Mrs. Van Thi Thuy Trang - Associate - Finance - Member.

Mr. Thuong Tan Luc - Head of Shareholders’ Eligibility Examination Committee reported the
results of shareholders’ eligibility examination:
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- Total number of invited shareholders: All shareholders in the list of shareholders as of
03.3.2025, represented 45,000,000 shares with voting rights of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer
JSC.

- At 09h00, April 04, 2025, the total number of shareholders and authorized representatives
was ..... persons, represented ..... shares, equivalent to .....% of voting shares of Sai Gon -
Quang Ngai Beer JSC. Thus, pursuant to Clause 1, Article 19 of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai
Beer JSC’s charter, the 2025 AGM was able to convene.

- All shareholders and shareholders’ representatives were eligible to attend the AGM 2025.

I11. Introduce the Chairman, the Secretary and Vote Counting Committee

List of Chairpersons of the Meeting:

Mr. Koo Liang Kwee - BOD Chairman - Chairperson.
Mrs. Bui Thi Nhu - BOD member, Director - Member.

— The AGM approved the list of Chairpersons of the Meeting.

Vote Counting Committee:

Mr. Thuong Tan Luc - Manager - Utilities - Head.
Mr. Thuong Dinh Hoc - Associate - Equipment & Process Assurance - Member.
Mrs. Van Thi Thuy Trang - Associate - Finance - Member.

— The AGM approved the vote counting committee.

AGM's Secretary:

In order to record the minutes and the resolution of the AGM, the Chairman appointed the
following as AGM secretary:

Mrs. Nguyen Thi Thanh Loan - Manager - Human Capital Resource & Administration Manager.
— The AGM approved AGM's Secretary.

IV. Agenda and Working regulations at AGM:

1. The main contents of the Agenda (Enclosed is the Agenda)
The AGM approved the Agenda.

2. Working Regulations (Enclosed is the Working Regulations)
The AGM approved the Working regulation.

PART IlI: CONTENT OF THE AGM
I. Presentation of the reports and proposals

1. Mr. Koo Liang Kwee, the Chairman reported business performance for 2024 and business
plan for 2025 (The report is enclosed).

2. Mr Nguyen Van Hoa, the Supervisory Board’s Head reported the Supervisory Board's
activities in 2024 and plan for 2025 (The report is enclosed).

3. Mrs. Bui Thi Nhu, the Director presented proposals to ask for the AGM’s approval as
follows:

- Audited financial statements 2024.

- Proposal on selection of the independent auditor for the fiscal year 2025.
- Proposal on 2024 profit distribution.

- Proposal on 2025 profit distribution plan.

- Proposal on settlement of salary, remuneration, bonus in 2024 for the non full-time
members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board.
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- Proposal on the plan of salary, remuneration, bonus in 2025 for the non full-time members
of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board.

- Proposal on signing contracts with related parties under the authority of the General
Meeting of Shareholders.

- Proposal on amendment to the Internal Regulations on Corporate Governance.
(The above proposals are enclosed).

I1. Q&A
The Chairperson informed the AGM to start the Q&A session.

PART I11. VOTING

Mr.: Thuong Tan Luc - Head of the Vote Counting Committee provided instructions on how to
vote.

Voting method: Shareholders/authorized persons attending the AGM fill in the voting ballot,
then send the voting ballot to the Vote Counting Committee for counting votes.

Each common share corresponds to 1 vote.
Mr. Thuong Tan Luc - Head of Vote Counting Committee reported the voting results as follows:

Agenda 1: Audited Financial Statement 2024

Total number of votes

Total number of valid votes

Total number of invalid votes

Total number of approval votes | | ......... % of the total number of votes
Total number of disapproval votes | | ......... % of the total number of votes
Total number of abstainvotes | | ......... % of the total number of votes

Agenda 2: BOD’s Report of business performance for 2024 and business plan for 2025

Total number of votes

Total number of valid votes

Total number of invalid votes

Total number of approval votes | | ......... % of the total number of votes
Total number of disapproval votes | | ......... % of the total number of votes
Total number of abstainvotes | | ......... % of the total number of votes

Agenda 3: Report of the Supervisory Board's activities in 2024 and plan for 2025

Total number of votes

Total number of valid votes

Total number of invalid votes

Total number of approval votes | | ......... % of the total number of votes
Total number of disapproval votes | | ......... % of the total number of votes
Total number of abstainvotess | | ... % of the total number of votes
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Agenda 4: Selection of the independent auditor for the fiscal year 2025

Total number of votes

Total number of valid votes

Total number of invalid votes

Total number of approval votes | | ......... % of the total number of votes
Total number of disapproval votes | | ......... % of the total number of votes
Total number of abstainvotes | | ......... % of the total number of votes

Agenda 5: 2024 profit distribution

Total number of votes

Total number of valid votes

Total number of invalid votes

Total number of approval votes | | ......... % of the total number of votes
Total number of disapproval votes | | ......... % of the total number of votes
Total number of abstainvotes | | ......... % of the total number of votes

Agenda 6: 2025 profit distribution plan

Total number of votes

Total number of valid votes

Total number of invalid votes

Total number of approval votes | | ......... % of the total number of votes
Total number of disapproval votes | | ......... % of the total number of votes
Total number of abstainvotes | | ......... % of the total number of votes

Agenda 7: Settlement of salary, remuneration, bonus in 2024 for the non full-time members
of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board

Total number of votes

Total number of valid votes

Total number of invalid votes

Total number of approval votes | | ......... % of the total number of votes
Total number of disapproval votes | | ......... % of the total number of votes
Total number of abstainvotes | | ......... % of the total number of votes

Agenda 8: The plan of salary, remuneration, bonus in 2025 for the Board of Directors and
the Supervisory Board

Total number of votes

Total number of valid votes

Total number of invalid votes

Total number of approval votes | | ......... % of the total number of votes
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Total number of disapproval votes

% of the total number of votes

Total number of abstain votes

% of the total number of votes

Agenda 09: Amendment to the Internal Regulatio

ns on Corporate Governance

Total number of votes

Total number of valid votes

Total number of invalid votes

Total number of approval votes

% of the total number of votes

Total number of disapproval votes

% of the total number of votes

Total number of abstain votes

% of the total number of votes

Agenda 10: Authorization to sign contracts with related parties under the authority of the

General Meeting of Shareholders

Total number of votes

Total number of valid votes

Total number of invalid votes

Total number of approval votes

% of the total number of votes

Total number of disapproval votes

% of the total number of votes

Total number of abstain votes

% of the total number of votes

— All above contents have been approved by the AGM with the approval rate as above.

PART IV. RATIFICATION OF RESOLUTION AND MINUTES OF THE MEETING
Mrs. Nguyén Thi Thanh Loan, presented the drafted Minutes and Resolution of the 2025 AGM.
The AGM approved the Minutes and the Resolution of the 2025 AGM with 100% of votes.

This Minutes were made in two copies and were kept at Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer JSC’s

office.

The 2025 AGM ended at 11h00 on the same day.

SECRETARY

Nguyén Thi Thanh Loan
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SABECO

Fax: +84.255.6250910

SAIGON QUANG NGAI BEER JOINT STOCK COMPANY
Address: Quang Phu 1Z, Quang Ngai City, Quang Ngai Province
Tel: +84.255.6250905; 6250906

Email: beer@sabecoquangngai.com.vn;Website: www.sabecoquangngai.com.vn
Business Licence no.: 4300338460 issued by Quang Ngai Province P&I Dept. on 04/12/2024

No.: 01/2025/NQ-DHPCD

DRAFT

Quang Ngai, April 04, 2025

RESOLUTION

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 2025

OF SAI GON - QUANG NGAI BEER JOINT STOCK COMPANY

Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises no.: 59/2020/QH14 dated 17/6/2020;
Pursuant to the Charter of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company;

Pursuant to the Meeting Minutes of the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Sai
Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company dated 04.4.2025.

RESOLVES

Article 1. Approve the audited financial statements 2024 of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint

Stock Company audited by KPMG Company Limited.

Article 2. Approve the report of the Board of Directors on business performance for 2024 and

business plan for 2025.
Business performance for 2024

Cateqories Unit 2023 2024 2024 % Changeon| % Change
g Actual Plan Actual Actual on Plan
Net Revenues Billion VND | 1,862.84| 2,104.07| 1,993.15 7.00% -5.27%
Tax contributions | o\ ND | 1871.82| 2.112.48| 2,017.08 7.76% -4.51%
to State Budget
Profit After Tax Billion VND 100.71 94.51 100.03 -0.68% 5.84%
Business plan for 2025
(0]
Categories Unit 2024 Actual | 2025 Plan & ?;t% wth
Net Revenues Billion VND 1,993.15 2,079.49 4.33%
Contributions to State Budget Billion VND 2,017.08 2,136.27 5.91%
Profit after tax Billion VND 100.03 106.21 6.18%

Article 3. Approve the report of the Supervisory Board's activities in 2024 and plan for 2025.

Article 4. Approve the proposal to select the independent auditor for 2025 financial statements.

Article 5. Approve the proposal on 2024 profit distribution and 2025 profit distribution plan.

5.1. 2024 profit distribution

Seq | Categories Unit 2024 Budget 2024 Actual
1 Undistributed profit - beginning | Mil VND 279,457 279,457
2 Profit after tax Mil VND 94,514 100,030
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Seq | Categories Unit 2024 Budget 2024 Actual
3 | Profit distribution: Mil VND
Bonus and Welfare Fund Mil VND 6,178 6,696
Social Activities Fund Mil VND 473 473
Dividend Mil VND 67,500 67,500
Dividend ratio % 15.00% 15.00%
4 | Undistributed profit - ending Mil VND 299,821 304,819
5.2. 2025 profit distribution plan
Seq Categories Unit 2024 Actual 2025 Budget
Undistributed profit - beginning Mil VND 279,457 304,819
Profit after tax Mil VND 100,030 106,210
Profit distribution: Mil VND
Bonus and Welfare Fund Mil VND 6,696 6,384
Social Activities Fund Mil VND 473 531
Dividend Mil VND 67,500 67,500
Dividend ratio % 15.00% 15.00%
4 | Undistributed profit - ending Mil VND 304,819 336,614

Article 6. Approve the proposal to settle remuneration, bonus in 2024 and the plan of
remuneration, bonus in 2025 for the non full-time members of the Board of Directors and the
Supervisory Board:

6.1. Settlement of remuneration, bonus in 2024

Remuneration : 598,000,000 VND.

6.2. Plan of remuneration, bonus in 2025

Remuneration

: 675,000,000 VND.

Article 7. Approve the proposal to sign contracts with related parties under the authority of the

General

Meeting of Shareholders:

7.1. Approve any contract and transaction that is worth at least 35% of the total assets written
in the latest financial statement or any transaction that causes the total transaction value in

12 months from the date of the first transaction reach at least 35% of the total assets

written in the latest financial between the company and one of the following entities:

Production and supply contract between the Company and Sai Gon Beer - Alcohol -
Beverage Joint Stock Corporation (SABECO) and Sai Gon Beer Trading Company

a)

b)

Limited;

Contract for purchasing raw materials and production control between the Company

and SABECO;

Contracts and transactions for purchasing and selling goods, supplies, packaging,
spare parts, technical services, repairs, etc. with related individuals & organizations of
SABECO, including but not limited to: subsidiaries and affiliated companies

according to relevant laws.

(All of the above contracts and transactions are referred to as "Transactions™).

7.2. According to the 2025 business plan approved by the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders (AGM), the Company's Legal Representative is assigned by AGM to:
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a) Decide on the specific terms and conditions of the Transaction and contracts,
agreements, and documents related to the Transaction, including agreements to amend,
supplement, replace, and terminate the Transaction (if any) in accordance with the
conditions specified in Section 7.1 above; and

b) Sign and implement Transactions and documents related to Transactions, including
agreements to amend, supplement, replace, and terminate Transactions (if any) in
accordance with the conditions specified in Section 7.1 above.

Article 8. Approve the proposal to amend the Internal Regulations on Corporate Governance as
attached.

Article 9. Implementation provisions

The Resolution of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 2025 of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai
Beer Joint Stock Company has been unanimously approved and thereby takes effect from the
signing date.

All Shareholders, Members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board, Director and
all employees of Sai Gon - Quang Ngai Beer Joint Stock Company are responsible for
implementing this Resolution.

Recipients: ON BEHALF OF AGM
- Shareholders; CHAIRPERSON

- BOD, SB;

- Director;

- BOD secretary.

Koo Liang Kwee
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